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The Frick Collection

On behalf of the Board of Trustees, I am pleased to
report that The Frick Collection and Art Reference
Library continue to thrive under the inspired leadership
of their director, Anne L. Poulet, through the efforts of
her dedicated staff, and with the loyal support of many
friends. We are especially appreciative of the consider-
able efforts of the Council and the Young Fellows
Steering Committee. Together, we continue to carry out
the mission of the institution’s founders, Henry Clay
Frick and his daughter Helen, to promote the study and
enjoyment of the fine arts and kindred subjects. We 
are committed to careful management of the Frick’s
existing resources, while concurrently developing a
vision for an exciting future. Please see Anne Poulet’s
letter on page 8 for an account of the achievements of
the past eighteen months. 

During the period of this report, we have made 
significant additions to the Board of Trustees, with the
election of John P. Birkelund, W. Mark Brady, Walter 
A. Eberstadt, and Stephen A. Schwarzman. We welcome
our new colleagues, each of whom brings us a breadth
and depth of experience. At the same time, Anne Poulet
has attracted several members to our Council, expanding
the expertise of this advisory committee.

One of the most important changes that occurred
at The Frick Collection in the past eighteen months is
that the institution has officially terminated its status as
a private operating foundation and is now recognized by
the Internal Revenue Service as a public charity. This
transition reflects the fact that the institution generates
a substantial and increasing amount of its operating 

revenue from gifts, grants, and memberships. It elimi-
nates our considerable expense for excise taxes and
makes available to us significant new sources of funding
as we prepare to intensify our fundraising efforts in 
the coming years. We are profoundly grateful to our
supporters whose generosity helped us reach this status.

In July 2004 we implemented a July 1–June 30 
fiscal year, as opposed to a calendar fiscal year. This
accounting change was made to improve our financial
planning capability relative to the typical year-end 
charitable giving cycle and to make our statements 
more readily comparable with the majority of our peers.
During this transition, we did not publish a six-month
Annual Report (although we did publish six-month
“stub”-year financial statements in our Winter 2005
Members’ Magazine). This publication therefore reports on
the institution’s activities during the eighteen months
between January 1, 2004, and June 30, 2005.

Under the stewardship of generations of dedicated
Trustees, directors, and staff, The Frick Collection has
become one of the most highly regarded art institutions
in the world. The superb quality of its Old Master
paintings, Renaissance bronzes, furniture, porcelains,
silver, enamels, carpets, and tapestries is appreciated 
and beloved by an international public. The extensive
research and archive collections of the Frick Art
Reference Library, the innovative creation of Henry
Clay Frick’s daughter Helen, have come to be relied
upon by a community of scholars both here and abroad.
Over the last year, the Trustees and staff have spent
much time evaluating the opportunities that lie ahead.

report of the president

Helen Clay Chace
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Annual Report, January 2004~June 2005

Both the art and library collections have continued 
to grow and develop over the decades, today posing 
different challenges in terms of their ongoing needs.
The increased demands by a more diverse public for
educational outreach, interpretive services, and focused
exhibitions taxes the capacity of our library, curatorial,
education, conservation, and support staff members,
who must work in the limited spaces available.

While forever committed to its origins and history,
The Frick Collection is looking increasingly forward,
cognizant that no institution remains static. As a
descendant of the institution’s founder and president 
of its Board of Trustees, I take seriously both the
preservation of the past and the preparation for the
future. I am grateful to everyone who shares my passion
for this special place, and I invite you to participate
actively in its extraordinary evolution.

Hans Holbein the Younger (1497/98–1543), 

Sir Thomas More, 1527, oil on panel, The Frick

Collection

Jean-Auguste-Dominique Ingres (1780–1867),

Comtesse d’Haussonville, 1845, oil on canvas, 

The Frick Collection
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The Frick Collection

It is with pride and deep satisfaction that I look back on
my first full fiscal year as the director of The Frick
Collection. I was especially pleased when, in September
2004, the Frick acquired Joseph Chinard’s magnificent
terracotta Portrait of Étienne Vincent-Marniola (c. 1809), our
first major purchase in nearly ten years. While the
museum often receives gifts of art, we look forward 
to establishing an acquisition fund that would enable
The Frick Collection to venture into the art market at
opportune moments such as those that made available
this wonderful bust.

In the following pages, you will read about curator-
ial and library activities; here I would like to focus your
attention on the strides we have made in external affairs
during 2004 and the first half of 2005. Working closely
with the senior staff and building on previous strategic
planning activity, we spent last summer assessing the
accomplishments of the past ten years and forecasting
our activity going forward; it was exciting work. Each
department prepared a presentation that was delivered
to the Board, Council, and Young Fellows Steering
Committee in an all-day session held on September 13,
2004. The symposium, titled “The Frick Collection:
Preserving the Legacy/Building for the Future,” offered
the opportunity for staff to exchange ideas with the
leadership of the Frick and to apprise them of our goals
and challenges as we work together to preserve the legacy
of Henry Clay Frick while preparing for the institution’s
future. One immediate outcome of this process was the
initiation, in early 2005, of an architectural study to
assess the ways in which we use our facilities, keeping in

mind the Frick’s space requirements for expanding its
current programming.

In November 2004 we established the Director’s
Circle, which includes long-time Frick supporters as
well as new friends. Numbering twenty-four at this
writing, this group of individuals will have contributed
more than $600,000 during this fiscal year, eliminating
a projected 2005 deficit in the process. Their combined
contributions are used to address two of our most
important curatorial and library activities: exhibitions
and acquisitions. More important, these generous
donors represent a source of enthusiastic support for
the institution.

Throughout this eighteen-month period, we 
continued to bring together our friends at openings,
concerts, lectures, and special fundraising events. 
The annual Young Fellows Ball—launched in 2000—
continues to introduce a younger generation of support-
ers to the Frick, in the process raising more than a 
million dollars to date for our education program, which
serves schools throughout the five boroughs. The 2004
Young Fellows Ball, held February 12, re-created the
atmosphere of a men’s club from a bygone era; the 2005
event, A Dance in the Golden Age, on February 24, 
celebrated the Collection’s numerous Dutch masters.

The 2004 Autumn Dinner, on October 18, 
honored former Time magazine art critic and author
Robert Hughes, who spoke about “Why the Frick
Matters.” Proceeds from the event, totaling more than
$250,000, helped to support the core activities of the
Collection and Library. May 12, 2005, saw the Frick’s

report of the director

Anne L. Poulet
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return as the beneficiary of the preview opening recep-
tion for the International Fine Art Fair, held at the
Seventh Regiment Armory. Proceeds from the evening
support the Frick’s special exhibitions program, which
complements and amplifies the Collection’s permanent
holdings through loans, educational programs, and
scholarly publications.

Travel has become an increasingly important aspect
of the Frick’s activities. Two high-level member trips
were organized to emphasize other approaches to the
house museum and private collections; one in October
2004 to Williamstown, Massachusetts, focused on the
Sterling & Francine Clark Art Institute and another 
to Palm Beach in February 2005 featured the Flagler
Museum. Through a partnership with the French
Heritage Society, the Frick sponsored a trip in October
2004 to Paris and the Île de France to study Regency
and Rococo architecture and interior decoration.

On a bittersweet note, Martin Duus, Vice Director
for External Affairs and the first full-time development
staff member, resigned in May 2005 after twelve years
with the institution, leaving behind a fully fledged
fundraising program that will generate nearly
$5,000,000 in fiscal year 2006. Under his leadership,
our media relations and marketing office was estab-
lished in 1998, and the Members’ Magazine was launched 
in 2001. On behalf of the Board of Trustees and the
staff, I would like to express deep gratitude to Martin
for building and running this important department,
strengthening the Frick in so many ways in the process.

I hope that you—our dedicated supporters, volun-

teers, and staff—share my pride in these and the many
other accomplishments outlined in this Annual Report.
It has been a profoundly gratifying experience leading
the Frick during these extremely busy and pivotal times,
and I look forward to working together with you to
guide the Collection and Library to new levels of 
success, ensuring that the quality of all aspects of the
institution will be sustained for the enjoyment and 
edification of generations to come.

Joseph Chinard (1756–1813), Portrait of Étienne

Vincent-Marniola (1781–1809), c. 1809, terracotta,

The Frick Collection

Parmigianino (1503–1540), Study for Two

Canephori on the Steccata Ceiling and Self-Portrait,

c. 1534–35, pen and brown ink on paper,

Devonshire Collections, Chatsworth
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The Frick Collection

The eighteen-month period between January 1, 2004,
and June 30, 2005, has been a highly successful and pro-
ductive one for the curatorial department. The number
and scope of our special exhibitions continue to grow,
and we are engaged in several other scholarly and edu-
cational projects.

Our 2004 exhibition schedule began with A
Beautiful and Gracious Manner: The Art of Parmigianino, on
view from January 27 through April 18; it brought
together drawings, small oil paintings, and prints repre-
senting the key periods in Parmigianino’s brief career.
Clare Henry of the Financial Times marveled over this
“magnificent” exhibition, encouraging readers not to
miss “the experience of a lifetime.” 

The Unfinished Print, which ran from June 2 through
August 15, examined the question of aesthetic resolution
through five hundred years of graphic art in a variety of
media and included several states of the same work in
varying degrees of completion by such masters as
Mantegna, Goltzius, Rembrandt, Piranesi, Meryon,
Degas, and Munch. The New York installation also 
provided the opportunity to display a number of related
prints from our permanent collection. 

European Bronzes from the Quentin Collection, which ran
from September 28, 2004, through January 2, 2005, was
the only public exhibition to date of this distinguished,
little-known private collection devoted to the art of the
sixteenth- through eighteenth-century statuette. The
nearly forty sculptures on view had been assembled 
during the last twenty-five years, and some pieces were
new discoveries exhibited here for the first time. The

show inspired a bronze “study day,” held jointly at The
Frick Collection and The Metropolitan Museum of Art
in December 2004; the symposium was attended by 
an international group of academics, curators, dealers,
and collectors. Ten bronzes lent by public and private
collections were brought together for comparison with
the Quentin bronzes.

We were delighted to be able to exhibit Raphael’s 
La Fornarina, on loan from the Galleria Nazionale d’Arte
Antica di Palazzo Barberini in Rome. This was our first
cooperative venture with the newly created Foundation
for Italian Arts and Culture, with which we hope to 
collaborate again. Mellon Fellow Xavier F. Salomon
wrote the text panels and the brochure that accompanied
the work and gave several gallery talks on this enigmatic 
portrait, which was on view in the Oval Room from
December 2, 2004, through February 3, 2005.

Renaissance and Baroque Bronzes from the Fitzwilliam

Museum, Cambridge (February 15–April 24, 2005), was 
the third exhibition in a series beginning with Willem 

van Tetrode (c. 1525–1580): Bronze Sculptures of the Renaissance

(2003) that featured the art of the statuette and has
focused attention on the Collection’s significant hold-
ings in that area. In conjunction with this exhibition,
Animals in Combat: Susini ’s “Lion Attacking a Horse” and “Leopard

Attacking a Bull” explored the history of an important
Renaissance sculptural theme. The installation, which
was presented in the Cabinet February 15 through April
24, 2005, celebrated Walter A. and Vera Eberstadt’s
2002 gift to The Frick Collection of two exquisite
bronze pendant fighting animal groups, dated to 

report of the chief curator

Colin B. Bailey

10



Annual Report, January 2004~June 2005

around 1630, by Giovanni Francesco Susini.
From May 10 through August 14, 2005, we were

proud to display two newly conserved Mughal carpets
from the permanent collection. These magnificent 
seventeenth-century Indian carpets are among fewer
than five hundred that survive from the court of the
Mughal emperors. After a nearly four-year restoration
by preeminent textile conservator Nobuko Kajitani, the
carpets were displayed in the Oval Room for the first
time as works of art in their own right.

From Callot to Greuze: French Drawings from Weimar was
on view from June 1 through August 7, 2005. This exhi-
bition, co-organized by the Schlossmuseum, presented a
selection of approximately seventy drawings from the
Schlossmuseum and the Goethe-Nationalmuseum in
Weimar, Germany. The Frick coordinated the accompa-
nying English catalogue, which is an important contri-
bution to the corpus of literature on French drawings.

In addition to our temporary exhibitions, we con-
tinue to enrich our visitors’ experiences through several
long-term loans. Parmigianino’s magnificent Portrait of a

Man with a Book was on extended loan from the York Art
Gallery from January 27 until November 21, 2004. In
July 2004, we received Christ on the Cross between the Virgin

and Saint John, painted circa 1340 by Simone Martini and
his assistants, from the Phillips Family Collection; this
exquisite panel remains on display in the Enamels Room.

Particularly noteworthy in 2004 was the acquisition
of Joseph Chinard’s Portrait of Étienne Vincent-Marniola.

Executed around 1809, the terracotta bust is the Frick’s
first major acquisition by purchase in almost a decade.

Members of the curatorial department did extensive
research on the sitter, Vincent-Marniola (1781–1809),
and discovered that he was the scion of a wealthy par-

lementaire family who rose to one of the highest positions
in Napoleon’s government by the age of twenty-eight. 

Care of the permanent collection is always para-
mount, and recent projects include the rematting and
storage of the Collection’s works of art on paper, new
object mounts for sculpture in the Boucher Room, 
completion of the cleaning work on two cassoni, and the
conservation of the two Boulle pedestals in the Living
Hall. Dorothy Mahon from The Metropolitan Museum
of Art cleaned Vermeer’s Officer and Laughing Girl, and
two clocks—David Weber’s and Veyt Schaufel’s astro-
nomical and calendrical table clocks, both part of the
1999 bequest from Winthrop Edey—were conserved 
by consultant restorers.

Also in 2004, we republished a revised version of
The Frick Collection Handbook of Paintings. This new version
contains color images as well as updated material on
works in the permanent collection. 

We continue to carry out Henry Clay Frick’s mission
to encourage a better understanding of the fine arts and
related studies through our lecture series. In addition 
to a full schedule of talks delivered by eminent art his-
torians, scholars, and writers, our two Council lectures
were particularly noteworthy. On March 24, 2004, 
for the second lecture in the annual Council lecture
series, Caroline Elam presented “Roger Fry and the 
Re-Evaluation of Piero della Francesca,” which exam-
ined the role that the celebrated critic, curator, and art 

Giovanni Francesco Susini (1585–c. 1653), A Lion

Attacking a Horse, c. 1630–40, bronze, The Frick

Collection, gift of Walter A. and Vera Eberstadt

Raphael Sanzio (1483–1520), La Fornarina, 

c. 1520, Galleria Nazionale d’Arte Antica 

di Palazzo Barberini, Rome
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The Frick Collection

adviser played in making Piero della Francesca one of
the most admired fifteenth-century Italian artists in the
twentieth century. This lecture was published by The
Frick Collection. On March 30, 2005, Theodore Reff
gave the third annual Council lecture on Manet’s 1864
Salon painting Incident in a Bullfight, from which the
Frick’s Bullfight is a fragment from the upper right-hand
section of the original canvas. Reff discussed the 
original composition of the painting and placed it in 
its political context; his lecture will be published in
December 2005. 

Scholarly investigation and education are essential
to the curatorial department’s mission. During the
2004–5 school year, The Frick Collection’s education
department served nearly eighteen hundred students
and their teachers from sixty-three classes in thirty-four
middle and high schools from all five boroughs. On-
and off-site visits were conducted for approximately
seventy-five public school teachers from neighborhoods
throughout the city. In the Frick’s third year of collabo-
ration with the Lower East Side Tenement Museum, ten
classes participated in this social studies project, includ-
ing two classes of developmentally disabled students. 

The Frick Collection’s program for medical profes-
sionals, the Art of Observation, concluded its fifth year
with seventy-five students participating from New York
City medical schools including Weill Cornell, Mount
Sinai, and Albert Einstein. In August 2004, a special
version of the Art of Observation was launched for the
New York City Police Department. Continuing into
2005, groups of newly promoted captains, sergeants, and
senior members of the NYPD’s administrative depart-
ment participated in sessions designed to improve their
observation, articulation, and communication skills.

For the second year, the Frick offered bi-monthly
gallery talks. Delivered by art historians on staff at 
The Frick Collection and Art Reference Library, the
talks focused on a particular object or gallery in the
Collection. Once a month, the gallery talk was simulta-
neously sign-language interpreted for hearing-impaired
members of the audience.

I am very happy to report that several members 

of the curatorial department were honored with distin-
guished awards in recent months. Curator Susan Grace
Galassi was awarded a Getty Curatorial Research
Fellowship for travel research for the upcoming Goya’s

Last Works (February 22 through May 14, 2006); her 
catalogue Whistler, Women, and Fashion (Yale University
Press, 2003), which was co-authored with Margaret
MacDonald and Aileen Ribiero, received the William 
E. Fischelis Book Award for 2004 from the Victorian
Society of America; and she was elected to the board 
of the College Art Association. The Society of
Architectural Historians recognized Mellon Fellow
Yvonne Elet with its Founders’ Award, for the best 
article on the history of architecture by an emerging
scholar, published in its journal during the last two
years. I was honored to receive the prestigious Mitchell
Prize for my recent work Patriotic Taste: Collecting Modern

Art in Pre-Revolutionary Paris (Yale University Press, 2002).
It is awarded every two years to a book in English that
has made an outstanding and original contribution to
the study of the visual arts. 

As this report must be brief, I have touched on 
only some of the many activities that my dynamic and
talented department has undertaken in these eighteen
months; I am grateful for the public’s positive response
to our burgeoning exhibition and loan program and to
the other scholarly and educational initiatives to which
we are deeply committed.
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January 28, 2004
A Beautiful and Gracious Manner: The Art of Parmigianino

David Franklin, National Gallery of Canada, Ottawa

February 18, 2004
A Mysterious Masterpiece: What’s Really Going on in Bellini ’s “Saint

Francis in the Desert”?

Colin Eisler, Institute of Fine Arts, New York             

March 24, 2004
Roger Fry and the Re-Evaluation of Piero della Francesca

Caroline Elam, National Gallery of Art, Washington, D.C.     
This lecture was the second in the annual series sponsored by the Council

of The Frick Collection.

May 19, 2004
Houdon and Freemasonry

Anne L. Poulet, The Frick Collection 

June 9, 2004
Revisions and Resolutions in the History of Printmaking

Peter Parshall, National Gallery of Art, Washington, D.C.

September 29, 2004
Learning by Doing: Cataloging European Old Master Bronzes in the

Quentin Collection

Manfred Leithe-Jasper, Kunsthistorisches Museum Vienna

October 20, 2004
Joseph Duveen: Kingpin of Art  

Meryle Secrest, biographer    

November 30, 2004
“La Fornarina”: Raphael’s Last and Most Surprising Masterpiece

Maria Grazia Bernardini, Galleria Nazionale d’Arte Antica
di Palazzo Barberini, Rome 

Lectures

December 1, 2004
Gauguin’s Paradise Lost

George Shackelford, Museum of Fine Arts, Boston

January 26, 2005
The Etruscan Forgeries of Curzio Inghirami

Ingrid Rowland, American Academy in Rome

February 23, 2005
The Furniture of Versailles, Then and Now

Pierre Arizzoli-Clémentel, Château de Versailles

March 30, 2005
Manet’s “Dead Toreador”

Theodore Reff, Columbia University
This lecture was the third in the annual series sponsored by the Council of

The Frick Collection.

April 13, 2005
Lieutenant Colonel Boscawen and His Collection of Bronzes

Victoria Avery,,  Harvard University Center for Italian
Renaissance Studies 

May 11, 2005
Gender, Devotion, and Storytelling in the Early Renaissance: An

Illustrated Manuscript of the “Meditations on the Life of Christ”

Holly Flora, Andrew W. Mellon Curatorial Fellow, 
The Frick Collection

June 1, 2005
From Callot to Greuze: Discoveries and Attributions in Weimar

Pierre Rosenberg, L’Académie française, Paris
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The Frick Collection

It is with much appreciation that I report that the 
support the Library receives from its patrons, scholars,
and peers continues to grow ever broader and ever
deeper. Indeed, 2004 and the first six months of 2005
marked three important occasions that stand out as
milestones in the Frick Art Reference Library’s contin-
ued commitment to its mission and its history, as well 
as its expanded relevance to a larger and more diverse
international research community. These occasions—
a February 2004 open house celebration of a decade of
accomplishments, the September 2004 symposium for
strategic planning, and the colloquium in May 2005 to
explore ways in which to formally establish the Library
as an official center for the history of collecting in
America—afforded important opportunities to take
stock and to develop exciting programs for the future.
At every juncture, I was reminded that the scholars we
serve and our peers at other art libraries look to the
Frick as a paragon of excellence, whether in assembling,
caring for, and making available the highest quality 
of research collections and archives, or advancing art
research through new media technologies and access
tools. At the same time, these occasions underscored 
the fact that we never can rest on our laurels but must
continue to juggle an ambitious programmatic vision
with the inescapable restrictions imposed by space 
and funding.

We continue to build our vast research collections,
seeking to enhance what even the most eager antiquar-
ian bookseller will concede is so complete as to have no
equal among area libraries. During this eighteen-month

period, the Library’s holdings of books, photographs,
and electronic resources were amplified most impres-
sively with gifts of approximately ten thousand 
photographs from The Kennedy Galleries, Inc., and
exhibition catalogues from the Associated American
Artists Gallery. In addition, the Library has expanded
its collections with subscriptions to ARTstor (offering
access to nearly half a million images for art teaching
and research), JSTOR (offering online access to a wide
range of periodical literature), and the remarkable Art
Sales Catalogues Online (generously underwritten for
three years by Nanne Dekking and Frank Ligtvoet),
which so significantly complements the Library’s 
auction catalogue collection. 

During a period when the weak U.S. dollar and ris-
ing prices for European publications called for austerity,
the Library was once again the beneficiary of Melvin R.
Seiden’s visionary generosity, as he initiated yet another
endowed book fund, this one in honor of Frick Council
member Jonathan Brown. To honor Edgar Munhall, the
Frick’s Curator Emeritus, an anonymous donor created 
a fund in his name.

In August 2004, a most fortuitous acquisition came
to the Library quite by chance, when a Pennsylvania
bookseller offered a two-volume ledger recording 
pictures, treatments, prices, and clients’ names relating
to work performed by the Frick’s conservator, William
Suhr, between 1938 and 1953. Thus, the Archives gained
a valuable document about an important member of our
institutional family and a history of painting conserva-
tion in the mid-twentieth century.

report of the andrew w. mellon librarian

Patricia Barnett
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Notable authors of recent books on collecting con-
tinue to rely on the Library’s vast Archives, consulting 
materials both from The Helen Clay Frick Foundation
Archives and from the Collection and Library papers.
Our curators, too, took full advantage of the proximity
of these documents, requesting information on subjects
as diverse as the Enamels Room, the Carrère and
Hastings blueprints for the Frick residence, and specific
purchases of paintings in the permanent collection.
With more and more researchers in search of primary
material related to collecting in America during the
Gilded Age, we recognize that our collaborative
guardianship of the Frick family archive with the
University of Pittsburgh, now three years into its 
partnership, will prove even more beneficial to our
patrons than we had initially anticipated.

Today, with space concerns paramount for libraries
across the country, our Library must take an active role
in defining and developing new paths and methods for
sharing our collections with sister institutions in New
York and beyond. To this end, the Library became part
of the New York Art Museum Library Collaborative.
Supported by a planning grant from the Andrew W.
Mellon Foundation, this group—consisting of the
libraries of The Metropolitan Museum of Art, The
Museum of Modern Art, the Brooklyn Museum, and
the Frick—worked over a ten-month period with con-
sultant James Neal, Vice President for Information
Services and University Librarian at Columbia
University, to develop a model for regional collaboration
for enhanced access and services. The Library also has

entered into discussions promising partnerships for
shared cataloging and other initiatives with the Getty
Research Institute and the Biblioteca Hertziana in
Rome.

Conversion to new media continues to touch every
department of the Library. The online conversion of 
the Library’s printed catalogues involved hundreds 
of hours of review and correction. In late 2004, elec-
tronic conversion was completed on all bibliographic
auction catalogue records, which now are accessible in
FRESCO (Frick Research Catalog Online). Planning
for the conversion of the Index to Art Periodicals is under
way, thanks to a grant received from the Metropolitan
New York Library Council. On a more challenging
level, one that means navigating uncharted waters, 
the Library is engaged in two projects for the digital
conversion of nearly half of the Library’s sixty thousand
negatives. The Carl and Lily Pforzheimer Foundation
and New York Times Company Foundation have gener-
ously supported the digital conversion of five thousand
of the most endangered negatives from the Library’s
photography campaigns of 1920–67. Similarly, ARTstor
has partnered with the Library to make possible the
conversion of nearly twenty thousand negatives of works
photographed at London auctions during the 1920s 
and 1930s and Italian works photographed by Mario
Sansoni between 1923 and 1951. These last two collec-
tions will join others in ARTstor’s growing compen-
dium of globally accessible images. 

All conversion to new media acutely affects the
conservation department and the electronic infrastruc-

Photograph of Smith’s Cove, circa 1936

by Stuart Davis (1894–1964), 

gift of The Kennedy Galleries

Hispania (February 1899), from the

Library’s installation Points of View:

The Power of Art Journalism
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The Frick Collection

ture cared for by the information systems department.
For the conservation staff, preparation of materials for
reformatting means facing the unexpected every day,
whether that be photographs and negatives to be sorted
and categorized for digital conversion or archival 
documents and films that need immediate attention to
save them from mold. Indeed, the new state-of-the-art
digital lab is fast becoming one of the Library’s greatest
assets for preservation. For our information systems
department, digital conversion requires constant
upgrading of the network and its image storage capacity,
as well as handling the increased demand for digital
images from both staff and the public.

Nurturing scholarship is the ultimate goal of any
research library, but some libraries do this more actively
than others. Helen Clay Frick never saw her library’s
role as passive. Accordingly, the Library steadily 
expanded its Research Program to reach beyond the
orientations and internships for local graduate students
established in the late 1990s, to include panel discus-
sions, collaborations with other research centers, and
exhibitions, such as the 2004 installation of auction 
catalogues in the Garden Court. Titled Fair Warning, the
installation coincided with the Library’s fifth annual
Dialogues on Art, a panel discussion cosponsored with
Knoedler & Company. The discussion topic, “The Bid’s
Against You: Perspectives on the Auction House,” was
moderated by Peter Sutton, director of the Bruce
Museum of Arts and Science. In 2005, both the 
installation in the Library’s exhibition cases and the
panel discussion paid tribute to the important role that
art journalism plays in the field of art history. Titled
“Points of View: The Power of Art Journalism,” the
panel discussion was moderated by Simon Schama, pro-
fessor of history and art history at Columbia University.

Scholars have long regarded the Library as invalu-
able for researching the history of collecting in America.
With this field expanding to touch more academic pro-
grams and interdisciplinary research projects, the time is
right for the Library and Collection to embrace a higher
profile in this area. In May 2005, we took the first step
down this path by calling a colloquium of distinguished

experts to discuss formalizing the Library’s position as a
center for the history of collecting in America, as well 
as to evaluate the needs and objectives of such a center,
both on an intellectual level and on a practical one. 
In these endeavors, whose potential always seems 
limitless, we are grateful for the engaged and invaluable
intellectual support we receive from the Trustees and
Council Library Committee, chaired by Melvin R.
Seiden, and the encouragement of new programs 
and initiatives that Director Anne L. Poulet gives so
unfailingly.

I cannot close this letter without special mention 
of the Library’s exceptional staff. These are people
whose performances are surpassed only by the origin-
ality with which they develop new ways to complete 
their daily tasks. Too many to name individually, 
numerous staff members teach and enroll in courses
that enhance the Library’s position in local academic
circles. Through lectures, workshops, and published
papers on art history, conservation, archives, and 
librarianship, they always shine a bright light on the
institution that is their professional home.

Notable Library Acquisitions
January 2004 through June 2005

gifts and exchanges

François Désiré Roulin: De La Guaira a Bogotá, Bogotá, 2003; by
exchange from the Biblioteca Luís Angel Arango, Bogotá 

Richard Goulding, The Welbeck Abbey Miniatures Belonging to His

Grace the Duke of Portland: A Catalogue Raisonné, Oxford, 1916;
gift of the J. and H. Weldon Foundation

Henry Havard, Dictionnaire de l’ameublement et de la décoration

depuis le XIIIe siècle, 4 vols., Paris, 1887–90; gift of The Frick
Collection
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Virg Judit and Toro Istvan, eds., A Magyar Festészet Rejtőzködő

Csodái… (The Hidden Treasures of Hungarian Painting: Selections 

from Hungarian Private Collections), Budapest, 2004; gift of 
Mű-Terem Galéria

Michel Laclotte, ed., The Art and Spirit of Paris, New York,
2003; gift of Everett Fahy

Monet et ses amis [exhibition at the Szépmüvészeti Múzeum,
Budapest], 2003; by exchange from the Szépmüvészeti
Múzeum

Réproduction intégrale et complète des décorations intérieures époque

Louis XVI de J. F. Boucher fils, Paris, 19–?; purchased in 
memory of Michael L. Rosenberg

Herbert Zemen, Der Orientmaler Rudolf Swoboda 1859–1914:

Leben und Werk, Vienna, 2004; gift of Herbert Zemen

Approximately 15,000 photographs and transparencies 
primarily of American art; gift of The Kennedy Galleries

883 photographs received on exchange from the National
Gallery of Art, Washington, D.C.

237 photographs of Italian seventeenth- and eighteenth-
century art; gift of  Professor Michael Milkovitch

Thirty-two catalogues and monographs on Hungarian art;
gift of the Salgo Trust for Education

purchases

Wolfgang Asholt and Walter Fahnders, eds., Der Blick vom

Wolkenkratzer: Avantgarde — Avantgardekritik — Avangardeforschung,
Amsterdam, 2000

Jan Bank, Dutch Culture in a European Perspective, 5 vols., 
Assen, 2004

Eugenio Camerini, La Divina Commedia di Dante Alighieri 

illustrata da Gustavo Doré, Savigliano, 2003; purchased in
honor of Nathalie Kaplan and Martha Loring (gift of
Melvin R. Seiden)

Dorothea Diemer, Hubert Gerhard und Carlo di Cesare del |

Palagio: Bronzeplastiker der Spätrenaissance, 2 vols., Berlin, 2004;
purchased through the Lehman Fund, in memory of
Robert Lehman

Iuliia Ivanova Gerasimova, The Iconostasis of Peter the Great in

the Peter and Paul Cathedral in St. Petersburg (1722–1729), Leiden,
2004; purchased through the Homeland Fund

Annegret Hoberg and Isabelle Jansen, Franz Marc: The

Complete Works [vol. 1], London, 2004–

Florentine Mutherich, Studies in Carolingian Manuscript

Illumination, London, 2004

H. M. Vehmeyer, Clocks: Their Origin and Development,

1320–1880, Ghent, 2004

Birgit Schwarz, Hitlers Museum: Die Fotoalben Gemäldegalerie Linz:

Dokumente zum “Führermuseum,” Vienna, 2004

Giacomo Wannenes and Rozenn Wannenes, Les Bronzes 

ornementaux et les objets montés de Louis XIV à Napoléon III, Paris,
2004; purchased through the Florence Gould Foundation
Fund

Christopher L. C. E. Witcombe, Copyright in the Renaissance:

Prints and the ‘Privilegio’ in Sixteenth-Century Venice and Rome,
Leiden, 2004; purchased through the Lehman Fund, in
memory of Robert Lehman 

A rare copy of the 1809 London auction catalogue for the
sale of the Sir George Pauncefote Bromley Collection
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January 11, 2004
Bella Davidovich, piano, and Alexander Sitkovetsky, violin,

in New York debut

January 25, 2004
Jonathan Gilad, pianist, in New York recital debut

February 15, 2004
Artemis Quartet

February 29, 2004
Storioni Trio

March 21, 2004
Dirk Joeres, piano 

April 4, 2004
Ensemble Masques, baroque violins, viols, and harpsichord,

in New York debut

April 18, 2004
Soile Isokoski, soprano, in New York recital debut

July 20, 2004
Vlach Quartet Prague, in New York debut

August 11, 2004
Dejan Lazic, piano, in New York recital debut

October 3, 2004
The Mozartean Players, violin, cello, and fortepiano

October 17, 2004
Fretwork, consort of five viols with Emma Kirkby, soprano

November 14, 2004
Gaede Trio, in New York debut

December 5, 2004
Eduardus Halim, piano

January 9, 2005
Aston Magna, two violins, viola, and cello, with Eric Hoeprich, 

classical clarinet

January 23, 2005
Jean-Claude Pennetier, piano

February 27, 2005
Cuarteto Casals

April 3, 2005
Gould Piano Trio

April 17, 2005
Nachtmusique, sextet of classical clarinets, bassoons, and horns

May 1, 2005
Sarasa, two violins, two violas, cello, and harpsichord, with 
Michael Chance, countertenor

Concerts
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The Founder’s Society
Helen Clay Chace

Mrs. William Stratton Clark

Estate of Stephen Morrow

Estate of Louise A. Pierot

Alice Jean Zuccaire

$100,000 and above
Enid A. Haupt*

The Helen Clay Frick Foundation

The Peter Jay Sharp Foundation

Mr. and Mrs. Howard Phipps Jr.

Robert Lehman Foundation, Inc.

Mr. and Mrs. Stephen A. Schwarzman

Melvin R. Seiden and Janine Luke

William Randolph Hearst Foundation

$50,000–$99,999
Peter and Sofia Blanchard

The Christian Humann Foundation

The Florence Gould Foundation

Mr. and Mrs. Jon Landau

National Endowment for the Arts

Mr. and Mrs. Lawrence B. Salander

Samuel H. Kress Foundation

Mr. and Mrs. Robert H. Smith

$25,000–$49,999
The Ahmanson Foundation

Irene Roosevelt Aitken

*deceased

Anna Maria and Stephen Kellen

Foundation, Inc.

Mr. and Mrs. John P. Birkelund

Mr. and Mrs. Jeremiah M. Bogert

Edward Lee Cave

Mr. and Mrs. Minturn V. Chace

Coral Realty, LLC

The Honorable Amalia Lacroze de Fortabat

Hester Diamond

Mr. and Mrs. L. F. Boker Doyle

Drue Heinz Trust

Mrs. Charles H. Dyson

Mr. and Mrs. Walter A. Eberstadt

Joanne du Pont Foster

Mrs. Henry Clay Frick II

Hagop Kevorkian Fund

Jeanette and H. Peter Kriendler

Charitable Trust

Mrs. Stephen Kellen

Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Kully

Terry and Tina Lundgren

Mr. and Mrs. Samuel I. Newhouse Jr.

Diane Allen Nixon

Mr. and Mrs. Juan A. Sabater

Mr. and Mrs. Constantine Sidamon-Eristoff

Elizabeth M. Stafford

The Widgeon Point Charitable Foundation

Mrs. Charles Wrightsman

$10,000–$24,999
Mr. and Mrs. I. Townsend Burden III

The Curtis W. McGraw Foundation

F. M. Kirby Foundation, Inc.

Filomen M. D’Agostino Foundation Corp.

Furthermore: A Program of the 

J. M. Kaplan Fund

Krehbiel Family Foundation

Metropolitan New York Library Council

Milton and Sally Avery Arts Foundation

The New York Times Company Foundation

Oceanic Heritage Foundation

Mr. and Mrs. Arthur Ross

Mrs. John F. Walton

World Monuments Fund

$5,000–$9,999
Angelo, Gordon & Co., L.P.

Armand Hammer Foundation

Allan Block

The Henry W. Bull Foundation

The Cowles Charitable Trust

Michel A. David-Weill

Mr. and Mrs. Patrick A. Gerschel

The J. Paul Getty Trust

Dr. and Mrs. Malcolm H. Wiener

$2,500–$4,999
Acorn Foundation, Inc.

Anonymous

Monsieur Jean A. Bonna

Mrs. William Stratton Clark

Nanne Dekking

Jill Jordon

We deeply appreciate the generosity of the following individuals,

foundations, and corporations that made substantial contribu-

tions to the Collection and Library during the eighteen-month

period between January 1, 2004, and June 30, 2005.

Roughly half of The Frick Collection’s funding for its 

operations must be found annually from sources other than its

endowment. Capital projects and special programs require addi-

tional resources as well. These listings reflect gifts and grants that

provide vitally needed general operating funds, as well as support

for a range of projects including special exhibitions and publica-

tions, Library acquisitions and its endowment, services to scholars,

the education program, conservation equipment and materials,

landscaping, seminars, the Photoarchive, and the annual

Symposium on the History of Art. In addition, the demands of

our beautiful, but aging, building require an increasing investment

of capital.

We are most grateful to our supporters for their generous

help in funding our vital programs and services.

Gifts & Grants
January 1, 2004, through June 30, 2005
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Mr. and Mrs. Mark L. Moehlman

Mr. and Mrs. Oliver K. Stanton

Director’s Circle
Irene Roosevelt Aitken

Mr. and Mrs. John P. Birkelund

Mr. and Mrs. Peter P. Blanchard III

Mr. and Mrs. Jeremiah M. Bogert

Edward Lee Cave

Mr. and Mrs. Minturn V. Chace

The Honorable Amalia Lacroze 

de Fortabat

Hester Diamond

Mr. and Mrs. L. F. Boker Doyle

Mrs. Charles H. Dyson

Mr. and Mrs. Walter A. Eberstadt

Joanne du Pont Foster

Mrs. Henry Clay Frick II

Enid A. Haupt*

Mrs. Stephen M. Kellen

Mr. and Mrs. Samuel I. Newhouse Jr.

Diane Allen Nixon

Mr. and Mrs. Howard Phipps Jr.

Mr. and Mrs. Juan A. Sabater

Mr. and Mrs. Stephen A. Schwarzman

Melvin R. Seiden and Janine Luke

Mr. and Mrs. Constantine Sidamon-Eristoff

Elizabeth M. Stafford

Mrs. Charles Wrightsman

Fellows of The Frick
Collection

Honorary Fellows
Mrs. Walter H. Annenberg

Mr. and Mrs. Perry Richardson Bass

Monsieur Le Comte d'Haussonville

Theodore Dell

Dr. and Mrs. Ira H. Kaufman

Mr. and Mrs. John L. Marion

Mrs. Paul Mellon

Edgar Munhall

Charles A. Ryskamp

*deceased

Mrs. William Suhr

Mr. and Mrs. Eugene Victor Thaw

Frederica von Stade

Sustaining Fellows
Mr. and Mrs. Andrea Cairone

J. Murray Logan*

Gianluigi and Claudia Quentin

Supporting Fellows
Margaret Ajemian Ahnert

Mr. and Mrs. Henry H. Arnhold

Alex Bouzari

Mrs. Christopher C. Y. Chen

John B. Coleman

Gifford Combs

Anthony Crichton-Stuart

Catherine G. Curran

Mr. and Mrs. Steven G. Einhorn

Mr. and Mrs. Robert F. Erburu

Francis Finlay

Lisa Lianne Frick

Mrs. Henry J. Heinz II

Mr. and Mrs. Jeffrey Horvitz

Mr. and Mrs. Jeff Joyce

Mr. and Mrs. Howard G. Lepow

Mr. and Mrs. Ira A. Lipman

Mr. and Mrs. William P. Rayner

Dr. and Mrs. James S. Reibel

Mr. and Mrs. Robert Reilly

Mr. and Mrs. John R. Robinson

David Rockefeller

Dr. and Mrs. Nathan E. Saint-Amand

Sue Erpf Van de Bovenkamp

Mr. and Mrs. George Wachter

Dr. and Mrs. Malcolm H. Wiener

Isabel S. Wilcox

Mr. and Mrs. Michael Zilkha

Contributing Fellows
Sonia Alpert

Mr. and Mrs. Christopher Ankner

Anne H. Bass

Mr. and Mrs. Thomas A. Cassilly

Domitilia M. dos Santos

Mr. and Mrs. Peter Frelinghuysen

Elise D. Frick and John A. Garraty

Mr. and Mrs. Leandro S. Galban Jr.

Stephen A. Geiger

Gail W. Goltra

Mr. and Mrs. Donald J. Gordon

Mr. and Mrs. Philip C. Gorrivan

Agnes Gund and Daniel Shapiro

Martha M. Hare

Mr. and Mrs. Spencer Hays

Frederick D. Hill

Bruce C. Horten

Peter W. Josten

Mr. and Mrs. Eugene M. Lang

Arthur L. Loeb

Mr. and Mrs. James C. Marlas

Mrs. John P. McGrath

Mr. and Mrs. William J. Michaelcheck

Mr. and Mrs. Jeremiah Milbank III

Charles A. Miller Jr. and Chas A. Miller III

Mr. and Mrs. Bernard G. Palitz

Mr. and Mrs. Norman L. Peck

Mr. and Mrs. François Poulet

The Honorable and Mrs. Felix G. Rohatyn

Mr. and Mrs. Alfred Ross 

Mr. and Mrs. H. Jonathan Rotenstreich

Emilia A. Saint-Amand and 

Frederick Krimendahl II

Mr. and Mrs. Lawrence B. Salander

Mr. and Mrs. Irwin Schneiderman

Mr. and Mrs. Stanley DeForest Scott

Mr. and Mrs. Robert L. Shafer

Mr. and Mrs. John L. Townsend III

Mr. and Mrs. Ira D. Wallach

Dr. and Mrs.* Karl T. Wamsler

Brenda Weeks-Nerz

Mr.* and Mrs.* Edwin L. Weisl Jr.

William J. Williams Jr. and 

Barbara A. Reuter

Dian Woodner

Mr. and Mrs. A. Penn Hill Wyrough

Dr. and Mrs. Jonathan Zizmor

Fellows
Joan Taub Ades and Alan M. Ades

Julian Agnew

Mr. and Mrs. Armin Allen

Bert Amador

Mr. and Mrs. Anthony Ames
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Mr. and Mrs. Mark Appel

Mr. and Mrs. R. Leigh Ardrey

Andrew Arkin

Mrs. J. Sinclair Armstrong

Edgar Aronson

Mr. and Mrs. Michael Assael

Mr. and Mrs. Ronald R. Atkins

Mr.* and Mrs. William Bailey

Mr. and Mrs. Robert F. R. Ballard

Elizabeth A. Baltz

Dr. and Mrs. Hugh R. K. Barber

Shelley Barber

Mr. and Mrs. Jonathan S. Bean

Mr. and Mrs. Frederick W. Beinecke

Marjorie Berger

Frances Billups

Patti C. Birch

Allan Block

Gary M. Bloom

Mr. and Mrs. Stanley M. Bogen

Geoffrey N. Bradfield

W. Mark Brady

Mr. and Mrs. Garrison W. Brinton

Professor and Mrs. Jonathan M. Brown

Charles F. Brush

Katherine F. Brush

Mrs. Jackson Burke

Mrs. James E. Burke

Amy Burkholder

Mr. and Mrs. Brook Byers

Miriam Cahn

Mr. and Mrs. Felix Callari

Ann Marie Carr

David G. Carter

Guy F. Cary*

Carroll J. Cavanagh and Candida N. Smith

Mr. and Mrs. James Cherry

Jane H. Choate

Mr. and Mrs. Christopher T. Clark

Mrs. William Stratton Clark

Annie Clayton

J. Patrick Cooney

Thomas A. Cox

Edna C. Craddock

*deceased

Mr. and Mrs. Andrew Crisses

Mr. and Mrs. Edgar M. Cullman

Robert Dance

Mr. and Mrs. Stephen Daniel

Michel A. David-Weill

Mr. and Mrs. Gonzalo de Las Heras

Margotte Marquesa de Lyon

David H. De Weese

Marshall Dill

Mr. and Mrs. Nicholas Dizozza

Benjamin F. Doller

Mr. and Mrs. Glenn B. Dorr III

Mr. and Mrs. Christopher Dunham

Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Dunn

Mr. and Mrs. Douglas Durst

Mr. and Mrs. John S. Dyson

Joan K. Easton

Mr. and Mrs. Bruno Eberli

Don F. Eddy and Leigh Behnke

Mary E. Emerson

J. O. Fairfax

Mr. and Mrs. Walter P. Fekula

Mr. and Mrs. Richard Feldstein

Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Fichera

Mrs. Anastassios Fondaras

Jill P. Fowler

James A. Fox

Jeffrey S. Freeman

Mr. and Mrs. Lawrence Friedland

Mr. and Mrs. Sergio Galvis

Dr. and Mrs. Charles G. Garbaccio

Bruce Gelb

Mr. and Mrs. Michael E. Gellert

Andrew S. Georges and 

Heather H. Georges

Mr. and Mrs. Morry Gerber

Richard Gilbert and Belinda Gilbert

Davis Given

Henry P. Godfrey and Ginger Schnaper

Mr. and Mrs. Eugene Goldberg

Mr. and Mrs. William T. Golden

Mr. and Mrs. Alain Goldrach

Mr. and Mrs. Hubert L. Goldschmidt

Albert Gordon

Mr. and Mrs. Paul Gourary

Mrs. Oliver R. Grace

Mrs. David Granger

Mr. and Mrs. Marco Grassi

Alexis Gregory

Mr. and Mrs. George Grumbach Jr.

Ambassador* and Mrs. Henry A. Grunwald

Mr. and Mrs. John Gutfreund

Charles Hack and Angella Hearn

Mr. and Mrs. Nicholas H. J. Hall

Mimi Halpern and Stephen Morrow*

Mr. and Mrs. Robert Hanke

Mr. and Mrs. Michael Harkins

Mr. and Mrs. William Harnisch

Mr. and Mrs. John Hearst

Kirk Henckels and Fernanda M. Kellogg

Bayard Henry

Mr. and Mrs. Carl B. Hess

Mr. and Mrs. John R. Hewitt

Luule N. Hewson

M. T. Hirschler

Frank L. Hohmann III

Mrs. Bruce Duff Hooton

Mr. and Mrs. James Houghton

Val Hoyt

Stephen Hundiak

June Hunt-Mayer

Mr. and Mrs. John W. Ingraham

Lisa D. Johnson and Williams Cosby

Mr. and Mrs. Ira H. Jolles

Mr. and Mrs. Adrian Jones

Mr. and Mrs. William Jordan Jr.

Jill Jordon

Mr. and Mrs. Warren S. Josephy

Mrs. Jack S. Josey

Mrs. Allan H. Kalmus

The Honorable Bruce M. Kaplan and

Janet Yaseen

Mr. and Mrs. Mark N. Kaplan

William W. Karatz

Mr. and Mrs. William Kaufmann

Suzanne Kavetas

Christian K. Keesee

Robert G. Keller

Frederick R. Koch

Phyllis L. Kossoff

Angie Z. Kozlowski

Geraldine S. Kunstadter
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George Labalme Jr.

Mrs. Stallworth Larson

Jane Lattes and Norbert Swislocki

Mr. and Mrs. Douglas B. Leeds

Mr. and Mrs. Christopher M. Lehman

Mr. and Mrs. Jack H. Lehman III

John J. Leiser

Mr. and Mrs. Dale LeMasters

Mr. and Mrs. Noel Levine

Mr. and Mrs. John Loughridge Lindsey

Gail P. Lloyd

Robert Loper

Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Loring

Michael R. Lynch and Susan L. Baker

Sandra Ann Mabritto

Gina G. MacArthur

Mr. and Mrs. John MacAskill

Duncan MacGuigan

Mr. and Mrs. Peter Malkin

Sarah S. Manley

Mr. and Mrs. Tom Marsh

Mr. and Mrs. Jeffrey E. Marshall

Michael T. Martin

Mr. and Mrs. Arthur C. Martinez

Rachel Mauro

Nancy McAllister and Richard M. Card

Mr. and Mrs. Michael J. McCormick

Joseph F. McCrindle

Richard M. McGonigal and 

Ellen E. Hausler

Gregory Mesniaeff and Elizabeth Burke

Catharine M. Miller and Dixie De Koning

Harvey S. Shipley Miller

Barbara B. Millhouse

Mr.* and Mrs. Walter Mintz

Francis X. Morrissey Jr.

Barbara S. Mosbacher

Ruth A. Mueller

Eldo S. Netto Jr.

Mr. and Mrs. Donald Newhouse

Jill Newhouse

Mr. and Mrs. Michael Newhouse

Rodney W. Nichols

Thomas E. O’Brien

*deceased

Mr. and Mrs. Richard E. Oldenburg

David Orentreich

Norman Orentreich

David T. Owsley

Mr. and Mrs. Chips C. Page

Mr. and Mrs. Alex B. Pagel

Mr. and Mrs. Gregory K. Palm

Mrs. Frank Papp

Mr. and Mrs. Kevin Parker

David B. Pearce

William Pelton and Mary Jane Massie

Mr. and Mrs. Paul G. Pennoyer Jr.

Mr. and Mrs. Robert Pennoyer

Mr. and Mrs. Ivan E. Phillips

Max Pine and Lois Mander

Conni Pitti and Donna Rapillo

Mr. and Mrs. Leon B. Polsky

Dr. and Mrs. Simon B. Poyta

Mr. and Mrs. Dale J. Precoda

Mrs. Lewis T. Preston

Mr. and Mrs. Samuel F. Pryor IV

Sheila Pulling

Yvonne Quinn

Christopher Ragucci

Ellen E. Rand

Paul A. Randour

Norman D. Rau

Dr. and Mrs. James J. Reardon

Mr. and Mrs. Homer Rees

Denice Rein

Hans R. Reinisch

Mr. and Mrs. Robert M. Riggs

Mr. and Mrs. John J. Roche

Mr. and Mrs. Alexander Roepers

Mr. and Mrs. Edward Romer

Elliott C. Rosch

Mr. and Mrs. Jonathan Rosen

Mr. and Mrs. Arthur Ross

Mr. and Mrs. Cye Ross

Nanette Ross

Mr. and Mrs. William M. Roth

Jane G. Rubin

Caroline Rubinstein and 

Phillip M. Winegar

Dr. and Mrs. A. Joseph Rudick

Mr. and Mrs. Winthrop Rutherfurd Jr.

Mr. and Mrs. Derald H. Ruttenberg

Ioana F. Rybakoff

Sana H. Sabbagh

Mrs. John H. Sack

Alan E. Salz

Mr. and Mrs. Alexander C. Sanger

Elaine B. Sargent

Robert M. Saunders and Susan Gaum

Princess Maria-Christina 

Sayn-Wittgenstein

Mr. and Mrs. Henry Schacht

C. M. Schamroth

Dr. and Mrs. Stephen K. Scher

Dr. and Mrs. Joel Schilling

Ralph Schlaeger

Mary Coxe Schlosser

Dr. and Mrs. Michael J. Schmerin

Frances M. Schultz

Mrs. John A. Scrymgeour

Mr. and Mrs. Henry Segerstrom

Mr. and Mrs. Charles A. Severs III

Larry Shar

Cynthia Simon

Robert B. Simon

J. L. H. Simonds

Donald G. Sisler

Mr. and Mrs. James Baker Sitrick

Mr. and Mrs. H. R. Slack

Mr. and Mrs. Robert A. Smith

Suzette de Marigny Smith

Margaret M. Sokol

Mr. and Mrs. Howard D. Solomon

Beverly Sommer

George Spera and Jane Ginsburg

Lucy Bishopric Sprunger

Joan Alexander Stanton

Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth I. Starr

Mr. and Mrs. Robert K. Steel

Ethel J. Steindl and Mark Schwarz

Mr. and Mrs. Garrick C. Stephenson

Mr. and Mrs. Robert A. Stern

Mr. and Mrs. Gerald G. Stiebel

Elizabeth F. Stribling and Guy Robinson

Elizabeth Strong-Cuevas

Mr. and Mrs. William H. Stuebe

Dr. and Mrs. Paul Sullivan
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Mr. and Mrs. John W. Sweetland

Mr. and Mrs. William Tatlock

Mr. and Mrs. Gregory F. Taylor

Mrs. Henry J. Taylor

Milton E. Teicher

Mr. and Mrs. Rodman K. Tilt Jr.

Mr. and Mrs. David M. Tobey

David Trachtenberg and Rick Wilson

The Honorable and Mrs. John Train

Mr. and Mrs. Roger Tuckerman

Paul Underwood

Marilyn Ungar

George W. van der Ploeg

Mr. and Mrs. Paul A. Vermylen Jr.

Judith Mann Villard

Mr. and Mrs. Herbert Wachtell

Mr. and Mrs. Paul A. Wagner

Thomas B. Walker III

Mr. and Mrs. John L. Warden

Joel Weissman

Lee Weissman

Marissa C. Wesely

Mr. and Mrs. Karel Westerling

The Honorable John C. Whitehead

Allison Whiting

Mr. and Mrs. John R. Wickham

Dr. and Mrs. Robert D. Wickham

Mr. and Mrs. G. Jarvis G. Wilcox Jr.

Duane Wilder

Mrs. Walter W. Wilds

Mr. and Mrs. Walter J. Wilkie

Peter A. Williams

Reid Williams

Mr. and Mrs. James J. Wilson

Mrs. Robert Winthrop

Mr. and Mrs. Morton Wohlgemuth

Diane R. Wolf

Mr. and Mrs. Gene M. Woodfin

William H. Wright II

Mr. and Mrs. David Yates

George M. Yeager

Emily A. Youssouf

George J. Zahringer III

*deceased

Jourdan Arpelle-Ziegler and Henry

Steinway Ziegler

Non-Resident Fellows
Andreas von Albertini

Katrin Bellinger and Harald Weinhold

Mr. and Mrs. Childs Frick Burden

Robert M. Edsel

Mr. and Mrs. Louis Elson

Anne B. Faircloth and 

Frederick Beaujeu-Dufour

Mr. and Mrs. Lucius L. Fowler

Mr. and Mrs. James B. Gubelmann

Lucinda A. Harris

Mr.* and Mrs. Anthony Hecht

Frances E. Kent

Mr. and Mrs. Robert E. Kulp Jr.

John B. Pierce

Adrian Sassoon

Mrs. Olcott D. Smith

John Van Buren

Young Fellows
Nicholas Acquavella

Alexandra Hayes Adame

Mr. and Mrs. Jose Maria Aldenueva

Edward A. Allen 

R. Martin Andersons

Christopher T. Aquilino

Vanessa Elizabeth Arredondo

Vlad Artamonov

DeLaney Bagwell

Amy L. Baker

Sarah Basile

Blake Beatty

Bryan Beller

Fabiola Beracasa

Mr. and Mrs. Peter A. Bicks

Vanessa Billotti

Harold Birnbaum

Christopher Bishop

Tracy O. Brady

Blair Brickman

Mr. and Mrs. Peter C. H. Brown

Virginia Burden

Sarah E. Burley

Mr. and Mrs. Anthony Calenda

Roberto Camacho

Joseph Harding and Thomas Cannon

Mr. and Mrs. Toby Chambers

Juju Chang and Neal Shapiro

Lawrence S. Chu

Elizabeth Clark

Mary Cogger

Richard Cooper

Catherine A. Corman

Caroline Owens Crawford

Julia Croddick

Caroline Cummings

Mr. and Mrs. David Dangoor

Anusia L. Dawson

Helen de la Gueronniere

Ernie de la Torre

Lucienne De Mestre

Ines de Seroux-Fouquet

Frank-Willem de Wit

Chena Dederian

Teresa Maria DeLuca and 

William D. Bisceglia

Joseph V. DeMarco

Melissa DeMouche

Umit S. Dhuga

Edith Dicconson

Mr. and Mrs. Brendan Dillon

Alicia Doherty

Shayne Doty

Mr. and Mrs. Richard du Pont Jr.

Elijah Duckworth-Schachter

Mr. and Mrs. Stephane Dujarric

Mr. and Mrs. John F. Durocher

Jacqueline H. Eckstein

Steven Eisenstadt and Jennifer Eisenstadt

Richard Gordon Faux III

Dr. and Mrs. Stephen Fealy

Ashleigh Fernandez

Abigail B. Field

Pamela Lynn Fielder

Thom Filicia

Daphne Filides

Mr. and Mrs. John L. Fiorilla

Elizabeth A. Fleming

William L. Floyd
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Amy Mazzola Flynn and Tad Flynn

Rhonda S. Foreman

Nicole Fusaro

Mary B. Gallagher

Mr. and Mrs. Ricardo Gambaccini

Paige Gamble

Beatriz Garcia

Michael Gibbens

Katharine Gilbert

Giovanna Giordano

Alexandra G. Goelet

Marne Grainger and Todd Cavaluzzi

Ann Marie Grasso

Tyler Greif

Noah Gresham

Nicholas Griffin

Lesley Gurkin

Mr. and Mrs. John Winthrop Hadden II

Marie Antoinette Handler

Conrad A. Hanson Jr. and Joel Lasher

Lois Cowles Harrison and Paul Minigiello

Mr. and Mrs. Peter Harwich

Ronnie Hawkins

Sharon Hawkins

Hiroko Grace Hayashi

Austin Hearst

Kim Hicks

Daisy Hill

Mr. and Mrs. David Berry Hill

Mr. and Mrs. Mark Hoffman

Tiziana Holmgren

William Stephen John Hood and 

Sophie Bosch de Hood

George Hopley

Asuncion Hostin

Georgene Huang

Daniel Hulsebosch

Olivia Z. Hutchinson and 

Daniel L. Hutchinson Jr.

Mr. and Mrs. Alexander E. Jackson

Mr. and Mrs. Albert Joerger

Nastassia Kantorowicz

Mr. and Mrs. Edward Kaplan

Mr. and Mrs. Sean P. Kavanagh

Corinne Keller

Brian Kennedy

Mr. and Mrs. Leslie Keno

Mr. and Mrs. Marius Kerdel

Tamara Wing Kilmurray

Younghee Kim-Wait

Rudolf C. King

Nicholas Kirk

Prince Rudolf Kniase Melikoff

Zelmira Koch

Elena Morris Kornbluth

Melyora E. Kramer

Jay Frederick Krehbiel

Deirdre Lally

Lucy Jane Lang

Felix Lauscher

Elizabeth W. Lazzara

Harrison T. LeFrak

J. Marc Michel Leonard

Nicole Liarakos

Mr. and Mrs. Richard Lightburn

Mr. and Mrs. Robert Lindgren

Mr. and Mrs. Ricardo Llanos

Mr. and Mrs. James Loeffler

Dening Lohez

Kimberly A. Lucas

Amanda Mallan

Kelly Mallon

Mr. and Mrs. Regis Marinier

Janis Martin

Paul J. Mateyunas

Susan Anne Mathisen

Kathryn von Matthiessen

Debby Mayer

Carlos A. Maymí and Steven Rapkin

Shauna McCarthy

Vincent McGee

Erin McKinnon

Douglas J. McNulty

Rebekah Mercer and Sylvain Mirochnikoff

Mr. and Mrs. Eugene Mercy Jr.

Erika Mikkelsen

Mark Evan Miller

Mr. and Mrs. Sylvester Miniter IV

Alison Minton

Mr. and Mrs. Edward Mirsepahi

Mr. and Mrs. Alan B. Mitchell

Laura Mitterrand

Mr. and Mrs. Donald L. Morgan

Mr. and Mrs. John J. Mulligan III

Philip R. Munger

John W. Munson

Mark Murray

Vikram Nagrani

Christopher Nelson

Jennifer J. Nilles

Amy P. Nuu

Sivan Ochshorn

Mr. and Mrs. David O’Halloran

Cristin M. O’Hara and Michael S. Sullivan

Stephen Olsen and Dennis Arguedas

Alixine O’Malley

Justine O’Malley

David Orr

Arman Oruc and Dagmar Smek

Kira von Ostenfeld-Suske

Allegra Pagel

Emily Paine

Gregory Pamel

Gregory Panayis

Ian Peck

Jacquelyn Piraquive

Diana D. Pulling

Mr. and Mrs. Jean Putzer

April Pyatt

Jeremy Reff

Jennie Ripps

Emily S. Robin

Michelle Rogers

Anya Roles

Jill Ross

Robert Roth

Yvonne Roth

Eugenie Roussel

Avik Roy

Julie Sabatino

Elisabeth A. Saint-Amand

N. Alexander Saint-Amand

Mr. and Mrs. Brandt Sakakeeny

Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Sambuco

Mr. and Mrs. Michael L. Santini

Danielle Sapse

Charlie N. W. Schlangen

Tracy Schroeder
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Dr. and Mrs. Geoffrey Scott Carroll

Christine Senft

Cathleen Sheehan

Christina Sheng

Mr. and Mrs. Alexander Shepard

Stewart Shining

R. Andrew Shore

James Shulman and Katie Winter

Mr. and Mrs. Andrew Silverman

Elizabeth Simon

Clare Elizabeth Smith

Lada V. Soljan

Nancy Solnik

Mr. and Mrs. Carl Sorenson

Jennifer Anne Spiegel

Conrad C. Steinmann

Randall Stempler

Eric Streiner

Christina Sullivan

Mr. and Mrs. J. Fife Symington IV

Thomas P. Symington

Mr. and Mrs. Andrew Thomas

Stephen Thompson

Kimberly S. Thomsen

Mr. and Mrs. Gregory Tietze

Mary K. Tilt

T. Shipley Troth and Janine Clemow

John Tyers

Elizabeth Vadasdi

Brendan Wallace

Mr. and Mrs. Christopher Weaver

Lauren Weinberg

Julia Power Weld

Timothy J. Whealon

David White

Mr. and Mrs. David Wildermuth

Suzanne Winters Wilson

Whitney Wolfe

Keith Woodfin

Ms. Jennifer Worthington

Jennifer Wright

Nina Yacavino

David Yeager

Anna Zefferys

Laura Zukerman

Sustaining Friends
Mr. and Mrs. Michael Nash Ambler

Alexander Apsis

Josephine L. Berger-Nadler

Mr. and Mrs. Leonard Block

Laurel Ann Brien

Mr. and Mrs. L. Jay Cross

Mr. and Mrs. Richard M. Danziger

Michael Davis and Dana C. Gallo

Nelly Arrieta de Blaquier

Mrs. Vincent de Roulet

Mr. and Mrs. Bruce A. Factor

Jerald Dillon Fessenden

Patricia R. Frederick

Mr. and Mrs. Robert L. Freedman

Mr. and Mrs. Bruce Geismar

The Honorable Sir David and 

Lady Gibbons

Abby Gilmore

Mr. and Mrs. Peter Greenleaf

Mr. and Mrs. George P. Grunebaum

Georgia Hiden

Elizabeth J. Hodge

Mr. and Mrs. John R. Hupper

Alan Kanzer

Mr. and Mrs. Richard A. Kasuli

Herbert J. Kayden and Gabrielle Reem

Saundra Keinberger

Karen H. Kim

Mr. and Mrs. Walter C. Klein

Mr. and Mrs. Alexander M. Laughlin

Olga Silvay Mandeau

Gene R. McHam and Sarah Blake McHam

Mr. and Mrs. James J. Murtha

Roy R. Neuberger

Mr. and Mrs. Erik P. Nygaard

Mrs. Wilbur Rabinowitz

Mr. and Mrs. Norman S. Reich

Janine Rensch

Mr. and Mrs. Philip R. Rotner

Simon M. Schama and 

Virginia E. Papaioannou

William R. Schermerhorn

Mr. and Mrs. Stuart B. Schimmel

Mr. and Mrs. Anthony J. Servino

Mr. and Mrs. Grant Smith

Anne Stean

Peter Steinman

Ilona Swaring and Edward Grombacher

Anna K. Weisz

Wheelock Whitney III

Roger L. Yaseen

Supporting Friends
Alicia L. Albert

Page Ashley

Mr. and Mrs. Seymour R. Askin Jr.

Earl Bailey

Mr. and Mrs. Marvin Barrett

Mr. and Mrs. Lewis W. Bernard

Martin Braid and Mia Weiner

Laurel Ann Brien

Constance R. Caplan

Caroline Carey

Debrah Charatan

Rosselli Del Turco and Helen Loratti

Mr. and Mrs. C. P. Dennison

Mr. and Mrs. Jean-Marie Eveillard

Barbara G. Fleischman

Mr. and Mrs. Cono R. Fusco

Thomas R. Gallagher

Davis Given

Mr. and Mrs. Robert G. Goelet

William Goldman

Dorothy S. Gray

Desiree Gruber

Herbert B. Halberg

John Hartje and Carol Camper

Inge Heckel

Trinidad Hidalgo and Neal Hidalgo

Mr. and Mrs. Alan R. Hirsig

Alexander C. Hitz

Elizabeth J. Hodge

Mrs. Warren Holby

Gordon A. Holmes

Robert W. Holmes and Robin MacDermott

Anne Gibboney Huske

Alexandra Moltke Isles

Jerome Jurschak

Patricia H. Keesee

Garrett Kirk Jr.

Mr. and Mrs. Thomas W. Lambert
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Jill L. Leinbach

Mr. and Mrs. Seymour Lichtenstein

Elizabeth Lifschultz

Reeve Lindbergh

Mr. and Mrs. Michael Loening

Mr. and Mrs. Duncan MacMillan

Ann Bell McCoy

Kay McCrosky

Mr. and Mrs. John McNiff

Walter B. Melvin

Payne W. Middleton

Mr. and Mrs. Richard W. Moore

Holly O’Grady

Grace M. Parr

Mr. and Mrs. John W. Payson

Michael Perlis and Colleen DeLee

Susan F. Pinsky and Marc E. Rosen

Mr. and Mrs. Jeffrey Plonsker

Marilyn B. Polite

Suzanna P. Price

Rory J. Radding and Nina S. Duchaine

Arthur D. Robson Jr.

Jennifer Rogers and Frances G. Rogers

David F. Ryan

Mr. and Mrs. Herbert Schinderman

Dr. and Mrs. Thomas Sculco

Jerome B. Shapiro

Mr. and Mrs. Peter Simon

Dr. and Mrs. Peter Som

Susan Sosin

Jeffrey Steinman and Jody Falco

Gary Thalheimer

Maria Voridis

Dianne Wallace

Thomas R. Warfield

Andrea Woodner

Helen M. Wright

Corporate Members
& Grants

$50,000 and above
Altria Group, Inc.

Carolina Herrera, Ltd.

J. Mendel

$25,000–$49,999
AEA Investors, LLC

Citigroup Venture Capital

Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, Inc.

The College of William and Mary

Coller Capital, Ltd.

Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP

David Yurman

The Economist

Engelhard Corporation

First Republic Bank

General Atlantic Partners

The Hartford

Kramer, Dillof, Livingston & Moore

Merck & Co., Inc.

Morgan Stanley

Pfizer, Inc.

Smith Barney

Société Générale

Thornwillow Press

Wachovia Corporation

$10,000–$24,999
Ars Libri, Ltd.

Bloomberg

Christie’s

Glorious Food

Moët Hennessy USA

Ralph Lauren Home

Salander-O’ Reilly Galleries, LLC

$5,000–$9,999
American Express Company

The Bank of New York

Goldman, Sachs & Co.

The H. W. Wilson Foundation

JPMorgan Chase

Liz Claiborne, Inc.

Repossi Jewelers

Sotheby’s

Town & Country

UBS

$2,500–$4,999
Chanel, Inc.

Colgate-Palmolive Company

Iridian Asset Management, LLC

John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Matching Gift Companies
Altria

AXA Foundation

Bank of America

Bear Stearns

Beekman Marketing, Inc.

Bunge Corporation Foundation

The Chase Manhattan Foundation

Computer Associates International, Inc.

Deutsche Bank Americas Foundation

ExxonMobil Foundation

GlaxoSmithKline Foundation

IBM Corporation

The J. Paul Getty Trust

John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

JPMorgan Chase Foundation

The May Department Stores Company

Foundation

Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw LLP

Meredith Corporation Foundation

Mobil Foundation, Inc

The Moody’s Foundation

New York Stock Exchange Foundation, Inc.

Penguin Group (USA), Inc.

Pfizer Foundation

The Prudential Foundation

Reader’s Digest

RR Donnelley Foundation

Samuel H. Kress Foundation

Sempra Energy Trading Corp.

The William and Flora Hewlett Foundation
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2004 Annual Fund

$10,000 and above
Peter and Sofia Blanchard

$5,000–$9,999
Nelly Arrieta de Blaquier

Shelley and Steven Einhorn

Mr. and Mrs. Robert F. Erburu

The Honorable Sir David and 

Lady Gibbons

Arthur L. Loeb

The Widgeon Point Charitable Foundation

$2,500–$4,999
Mr. and Mrs. I. Townsend Burden III

Elise D. Frick and John A. Garraty

Grace Jones Richardson Trust

Gerold Klauer and Dr. Jana Klauer

Mrs. Lewis T. Preston

David Rockefeller

Julie and Lawrence Salander

Mr. and Mrs. John L. Townsend III

Shelby B. White

Gene M. and Jerry Ann Woodfin

$500–$2,499
Jan and Warren Adelson

W. Mark Brady

Laurel Ann Brien

Thomas A. Buckley

Edward Lee Cave

Charina Foundation, Inc.

Robert Couturier

Edna C. Craddock

Mr. and Mrs. Edgar M. Cullman

Mr. and Mrs. Walter A. Eberstadt

James O. Fairfax

Mrs. Henry Clay Frick II

Mr. and Mrs. Leandro S. Galban Jr.

Stephen A. Geiger

Michael Gibbens

Alexandra W. Golinkin 

Mr. and Mrs. Nicholas H. J. Hall

*deceased

Mrs. Horace Havemeyer

Dr. and Mrs. Ira H. Kaufman

Joseph Leo Koerner

Duncan MacGuigan

Carol and Earle Mack

The Marvin Davidson Foundation, Inc.

Mrs. John P. McGrath

Mr. and Mrs. Richard W. Moore

Mr. and Mrs. Michael Newhouse

Rodney W. Nichols

Samuel F. Pryor IV

Mr. and Mrs. Allan J. Robbins

The Honorable and Mrs. Felix G. Rohatyn

Mr. and Mrs. H. Jonathan Rotenstreich

Christopher F. Rupp

Dr. and Mrs. Stephen K. Scher

Dana Hyde Scrymgeour

Mr. and Mrs. Constantine Sidamon-Eristoff

Sheila and George Stephenson

Mr. and Mrs. William Tatlock

Francis H. Williams

John Winston

George W. Young

Autumn Dinner
October 18, 2004

Honorary Chairman
Charles Ryskamp

Chairman
Nicholas H. J. Hall

Honoree
Robert Hughes

Autumn Dinner Patrons
Irene Roosevelt Aitken

Mr. and Mrs. Minturn V. Chace

Christie’s

Mrs. Henry Clay Frick II

The Helen Clay Frick Foundation

Drew Mason and Babetta von Albertini

Patterson, Belknap, Webb & Tyler LLP

Seneca Capital Management

Isabel Stainow Wilcox

Autumn Dinner Supporters
Mr. and Mrs. Henry H. Arnhold

Peter and Sofia Blanchard

Edward Lee Cave

The Honorable and Mrs. Walter J. P. Curley

Mr. and Mrs. L. F. Boker Doyle

Donna Pearson Josey

Christian K. Keesee

Mrs. Stephen M. Kellen

Jon and Barbara Landau

Mr. and Mrs. Howard Phipps Jr.

Mrs. Lewis T. Preston

Mr. and Mrs. John R. Robinson

Autumn Dinner Friends
Margaret Ajemian Ahnert

Mrs. Philip Alperdt

Mr. and Mrs. Anthony Ames

Helen-Mae and Seymour R. Askin

Dr. and Mrs. Hugh R. K. Barber

W. Mark Brady

Mr. and Mrs. Garrison W. Brinton

Mr. and Mrs. Boyd de Brossard

Cabinet Millerand et Saint-Seine

Guy F. Cary*

John B. Coleman

Edna Craddock

Francis Finlay

Mrs. Nereo Fioratti

Amy Mazzola Flynn and Tad Flynn

Henry P. Godfrey 

Mr. and Mrs. Alain Goldrach

Mr. and Mrs. Francis C. Grant III

Charles Hack

Martha M. Hare

Barbara W. Hearst

Mr. and Mrs. Gregory S. Hedberg

Mrs. Henry J. Heinz II

Frederick D. Hill

Knoedler & Co.

Edith Langner and Michael H. Coles

Martha and Thomas Loring

Mrs. John P. McGrath

Mellon Human Resources & 

Investor Solutions

Mr. and Mrs. Michael A. Miles
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Arlene J. Morrow

Lynn Nesbit

Rodney W. Nichols

Mr. and Mrs. Chips Page

Mr. and Mrs. Bernard G. Palitz

Robert S Pirie

Ambassador and Mrs. Gunter Pleuger

Dr. and Mrs. Simon B. Poyta

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Mr. and Mrs. Gianluigi Quentin

Mr. and Mrs. Homer Rees

Dr. and Mrs. James S. Reibel

Mr. and Mrs. Juan A. Sabater

Samuel H. Kress Foundation

Mr. and Mrs. Stanley DeForest Scott

Dana Hyde Scrymgeour

Suzette de Marigny Smith

Sotheby’s

Mr. and Mrs. Gerald G. Stiebel

Elizabeth F. Stribling and Guy Robinson

Mr. and Mrs. David M. Tobey

Ambassador and Mrs. José-Maria Ullrich

Mr. and Mrs. Paul Wagner

Mr. and Mrs. G. Jarvis G. Wilcox Jr.

Mr. and Mrs. Basil C. Williams

Jourdan Arpelle-Ziegler and 

Henry Steinway Ziegler

Autumn Dinner Contributors
Mrs. Douglas Auchincloss

Mr. and Mrs. Sid R. Bass

Josephine L. Berger-Nadler

Mr. and Mrs. John P. Birkelund

Mr. and Mrs. Jeremiah M. Bogert

Mr. I. Townsend Burden III

Louise and Edgar Cullman

Mr. and Mrs. Walter A. Eberstadt

Mr. and Mrs. John Elliott Jr.

Christopher Forbes

Mr. and Mrs. Peter Frelinghuysen

Iridian Asset Management LLC

Phyllis L. Kossoff

Geraldine S. Kunstadter

Arthur L. Loeb

*deceased

Mr. and Mrs. Robert W. Miller

Mr.* and Mrs. Walter Mintz

The Oliphant Press, LLC

Eben W. Pyne

Janine Rensch

Frances Scaife

Dr. and Mrs. Stephen K. Scher

Seibold Security, Inc.

Melvin R. Seiden and Janine Luke

Mrs. Olcott D. Smith

Mrs. Frederick M. Stafford

Deirdre Stam

Joyce L. Sterling

Mr. and Mrs. Eugene Victor Thaw

Helen S. Tucker

Dr. and Mrs.* Karl T. Wamsler

Mr. and Mrs. Gene M. Woodfin

Mrs. Charles Wrightsman

International Fine Art Fair
May 12, 2005

Honorary Chairman
Michel David-Weill

Co-Chairmen
Sofia Blanchard

Marina Rust Connor

Nathalie Kaplan

Martha Loring

Diane Allen Nixon

Isabel Stainow Wilcox

Vice Chairs
Irene Roosevelt Aitken

Gillian Attfield

Mr. and Mrs. John P. Birkelund

Peter and Sofia Blanchard

W. Mark Brady

I. Townsend Burden III

Edward Lee Cave

Helen Clay Chace

Karen B. Cohen

Marina Rust Connor

Edna C. Craddock

Catherine G. Curran

Michel David-Weill

Hester Diamond

Mr. and Mrs. Jean-Marie Eveillard

Chiara Ferragamo

David B. Ford

Mrs. Henry Clay Frick II

Gail Wright Goltra

Michele Beiny Harkins

Donna Josey

Mrs. Stephen M. Kellen

Gerold and Jana Klauer

Jon and Barbara Landau

Sally and Howard Lepow

Arthur L. Loeb

J. Murray Logan* 

Martha Loring

Mrs. John P. McGrath

Mr. and Mrs. Robert W. Miller

Alison R. Minton

Diane Allen Nixon

Richard E. Oldenburg

Flavia Ormond

Mr. and Mrs. Bernard G. Palitz

Mr. and Mrs. Howard Phipps Jr.

Katharine and William Rayner

W. D. Rondina

Marianna Sabater

Siobhan H. Sack

Danielle Sapse

Mr. and Mrs. Stephen A. Schwarzman

Stephanie Anne Sirota

Beatrice Stern

Elizabeth Strong-Cuevas

Mr. and Mrs. Eugene V. Thaw

George Wachter

Lee Weissman

John C. Whitehead

Malcolm and Carolyn Wiener

Isabel Stainow Wilcox

Collectors’ Committee
Joan Taub Ades and Alan M. Ades

Frances Beatty Adler and Allen Adler

Mr. and Mrs. Henry H. Arnhold

Helen-Mae and Seymour Askin
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Sarah Basile

Robert Mark Blumenfeld

Mr. and Mrs. Garrison W. Brinton

Richard A. Brodie

Thomas Anthony Buckley

Robert L. Cahill Jr.

Ann Marie Carr

Minturn V. Chace

Mrs. Christopher C. Y. Chen

Mrs. William Stratton Clark

Julia Coleman

Robert Couturier

Caroline Owens Crawford

Anthony Crichton-Stuart

Victoria C. Davidson

Margotte Marquesa de Lyon

Eric de Saint-Seine

Nanne Dekking

Eva and Brendan Dillon

Alicia Thérèse Doherty

Mr. and Mrs. Walter A. Eberstadt

Amy Mazzola Flynn and Tad Flynn

Mr. and Mrs. Robert L. Forbes

Rhonda Foreman and Evan Kurtz

Joanne du Pont Foster

Marilyn J. Friedland

Edward A. Fuller

Stephen A. Geiger

Mr. and Mrs. Patrick Gerschel

Mr. and Mrs. Eugene Goldberg

Peter Goltra

Ashley Goodale

Dr. and Mrs. Charles B. Goodwin

Philip C. Gorrivan

Antonia and George J. Grumbach Jr.

Mr. and Mrs. Martin Gruss

Nicholas H. J. Hall

Jo Davis Hallingby

Martha M. Hare

Mr. and Mrs. Spencer Hays

Frances S. Hayward

June Hunt-Mayer

The Honorable Bruce M. Kaplan and

Janet Yaseen

Nathalie Kaplan

Corinne Keller

Robert G. Keller

Kristen Kossmann

Richard Kossmann

Phyllis L. Kossoff

Geraldine S. Kunstadter

Lawrence E. Lewis III

Victoria and Robert Lindgren

Thomas Loring

Jeffrey M. Lotman

Kimberly Lucas

Paul J. Mateyunas

Rachel Mauro

Amy Todd Middleton

Thierry Millerand

Eldo S. Netto Jr.

Frank and Lizabeth Newman

Jennifer J. Nilles

Laura S. Opdenaker

Mr. and Mrs. Jeffrey M. Peek

Leslie B. Perkin

Dana and Mark Perlbinder

Mrs. Lewis T. Preston

Mrs. Alexandre Rosenberg

Mrs. Howard L. Ross and James Ross

Victoria Rotenstreich

Jacqueline Sackler

Mr. and Mrs. Julio Mario Santo Domingo

Stephen K. Scher

Charles N. W. Schlangen

Louise Schliemann

Dana Hyde Scrymgeour

Kathy Sloane

Ira N. Spanierman

Jennifer Anne Spiegel

William W. Stahl Jr.

David Miller Steiner

Mrs. Garrick C. Stephenson

Mr. and Mrs. George E. Stephenson

Lionel and Gerry Sterling

Burton and Barbara Stern

Gerard J. Stora

Elizabeth F. Stribling and Guy Robinson

Aso O. Tavitian

Tiffany & Co.

Barbara Tober

Mr. and Mrs. David M. Tobey

Nina D. van Dyke

Edward vander Geest

Fern Wachter

Cici Wilkinson

Gail Winston

Penn and Kathryn Wyrough

Dealers’ Committee
Adam Williams Fine Art, Ltd.

Agnew’s, Inc.

Colnaghi/Katrin Bellinger

Didier Aaron, Inc.

Flavia Ormond Fine Arts

Frost & Reed, Ltd.

Hill-Stone, Inc.

Jack Kilgore & Co., Inc.

Jill Newhouse

Lowell Libson, Ltd.

Nissman, Abromson, Ltd.

Richard Green Fine Paintings

Thomas Colville Fine Art 

Thomas Le Claire Kunsthandel

W. M. Brady & Co., Inc.

Contributors
Mary Louise and Hugh R. K. Barber

Mr. and Mrs. Sid R. Bass

Anne Searle Bent and Marion Meers

Christopher Casciato

Dawn and Ira Kaufman

Carol Mack

Janet Mavec

Janine Rensch

Mr. and Mrs. John R. Robinson

Dorothy and John Sprague

Lucy Sprunger

Mrs. Charles Wrightsman

The Frick Collection makes every effort to recognize

gifts as requested. Corrections may be directed to

Rosalie MacGowan at (212) 547-0709.
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In our opinion, the accompanying statement of financial position and the related statements of activities and cash
flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The Frick Collection (the “Collection”) at June
30, 2005, and the changes in its net assets and cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Collection’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on 
our audit. We conducted our audit of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the account-
ing principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of The Frick Collection

December 13, 2005
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Statement of Financial Position
June 30, 2005

assets

Cash and cash equivalents $      2,888,890 
Contributions receivable 1,338,849 
Accrued interest and dividends 288,876 
Due from broker for securities sold 377,762 
Other assets 3,660,881 
Inventory 793,322 
Investments, at fair value 

Museum 176,921,288 
Library 49,118,430 

Fixed assets, net 
Museum 15,165,707 
Library 1,898,790 

Prepaid pension cost 284,589 
Total assets $ 252,737,384  

liabilities and net assets

Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and deferred income $      2,042,953 
Due to broker for securities purchased 51,723 
Accrued postretirement health and other benefits 4,897,000 

Total liabilities 6,991,676 

net assets

Unrestricted 213,675,537 
Temporarily restricted 5,811,844 
Permanently restricted 26,258,327 

Total net assets 245,745,708 
Total liabilities and net assets $ 252,737,384  

See accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Activities
Year Ended June 30, 2005

Unrestricted

Board Temporarily Permanently 
General Designated Total Restricted Restricted Total 

Operating support and revenues
Net investment return 

- 4.5% spending  policy $ 7,591,533     $ - $ 7,591,533 $ - $ - $ 7,591,533     

Other interest income - 3,128 3,128 16,435 - 19,563 

Contributions 1,796,905 - 1,796,905 2,223,869 - 4,020,774 

Admission fees 2,081,108 - 2,081,108 - - 2,081,108 

Membership 1,520,790 - 1,520,790 - - 1,520,790 

Bookstore sales and miscellaneous 1,538,954 - 1,538,954 - - 1,538,954 

14,529,290 3,128 14,532,418 2,240,304 - 16,772,722 

Net assets released from restrictions 1,782,136 55,713 1,837,849 (1,837,849) - -

Total operating support and revenues 16,311,426 58,841 16,370,267 402,455 - 16,772,722 

Operating expenses
Museum programs

Operations 4,226,653 - 4,226,653 - - 4,226,653 

Special exhibitions, concerts, and lectures 996,623 - 996,623 - - 996,623 

Bookstore, including cost of sales 866,585 - 866,585 - - 866,585 

Total museum programs 6,089,861 - 6,089,861 - - 6,089,861 

Library programs

Operations 2,992,267 - 2,992,267 - - 2,992,267 

Special programs 291,207 - 291,207 - - 291,207 

Total library programs 3,283,474 - 3,283,474 - - 3,283,474 

Total programs 9,373,335 - 9,373,335 - - 9,373,335 

Supporting services

General and administrative 5,669,293 - 5,669,293 - - 5,669,293 

Fundraising 1,326,915 - 1,326,915 - - 1,326,915 

Total supporting services 6,996,208 - 6,996,208 - - 6,996,208 

Total operating expenses 16,369,543 - 16,369,543 - - 16,369,543 

Excess (deficiency) of operating support 

and revenues over operating expenses (58,117) 58,841 724 402,455 - 403,179 

Nonoperating items
Contributions 327,000 327,000 

Depreciation - (1,053,118) (1,053,118) - - (1,053,118) 

Purchase of collection item - (400,000) (400,000) - - (400,000) 

Reduction in commitments 108,000 - 108,000 - - 108,000 

Net investment return in excess 

of 4.5% spending policy amount  16,447 12,205,312 12,221,759 1,356,542 - 13,578,301 

Net assets released from restrictions - 194,961 194,961 (194,961) - - 

Total nonoperating support 

revenue and expenses 124,447 10,947,155 11,071,602 1,161,581 327,000 12,560,183 

Change in net assets 66,330 11,005,996 11,072,326 1,564,036 327,000 12,963,362 

Net assets
Beginning of year 5,124,858 197,478,353 202,603,211 4,247,808 25,931,327 232,782,346 

End of year $ 5,191,188     $ 208,484,349 $ 213,675,537 $ 5,811,844 $ 26,258,327 $ 245,745,708     

See accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended June 30, 2005

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets $ 12,963,362   
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to cash used in operating activities 

Depreciation 1,053,118 
Realized gains on investments (12,330,712) 
Unrealized appreciation on investments (4,756,726) 
Permanently restricted contributions (327,000) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities 
Contributions receivable (1,004,891) 
Accrued interest and dividends 337,632 
Other current assets (390,247) 
Inventory (48,065) 
Prepaid pension cost 346,332 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and deferred income (577,892) 
Accrued postretirement health and other benefits 268,065 

Net cash used in operating activities (4,467,024) 

Cash flows from investing activities
Investments in fixed assets (880,995) 
Purchases of investments (163,643,662) 
Proceeds from dispositions of investments 170,025,705 

Net cash provided by investing activities 5,501,048 

Cash flows from financing activities
Permanently restricted contributions 327,000 

Net cash provided by financing activities 327,000 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,361,024 

Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year 1,527,866 
End of year $ 2,888,890 

See accompanying notes.
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1. the collection

The Frick Collection (“The Collection”), created in 1920
under the provisions of the will of Henry Clay Frick, oper-
ates an art museum (the “Museum”), which is open to the
public, and an art reference library (the “Library”), which is
available to fine arts scholars. 

The Collection has been classified as a public charity as
described in Sections 509(a)(1) and 170(b)(1)(A)(vi) of
the Code and is exempt from federal income taxes.  In
addition, the State and City have classified the Collection
as nonprofit in character and, as such, it is exempt from
payment of income taxes to the State and City. 

2. summary of significant 

accounting policies

Net Asset Classifications
The Collection reports information regarding its financial
position and activities according to three classes of net
assets: permanently restricted, temporarily restricted, and
unrestricted. 

~ Permanently restricted net assets contain donor-
imposed restrictions that stipulate the resources be
maintained permanently, but permit the Collection to
use or expend part or all of the income derived from 
the donated assets for either specified or unspecified
purposes. 

~ Temporarily restricted net assets contain donor-imposed
restrictions that permit the Collection to use or expend
the assets as specified. The restrictions are satisfied
either by the passage of time or by action of the
Collection. 

~ Unrestricted net assets are not restricted by donors, or

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2005

the donor-imposed restrictions have expired. As 
reflected in the accompanying statement of activities, the
Collection’s Board of Trustees has designated a portion
of the unrestricted net assets for fixed assets and long-
term investment. 

Measure of Operations
The Collection includes in its definition of operations all
revenues and expenses that are an integral part of its pro-
grams and supporting activities. The measure of operations
includes investment income equal to the 4.5% spending rate
(net of related fees and taxes) and excludes investment
return in excess of, or less than, the 4.5% spending rate and
depreciation of fixed assets. The measure of operations 
also excludes permanently restricted contributions, 
purchase and sale of collections’ items, and unsolicited,
individual unrestricted contributions of $50,000 or more,
which contributions are board designated for long-term
investment as funds functioning as endowment and 
releases of net assets from restrictions related to non-
operating items. 

Contributions
The Collection records as revenue, cash and promises to
give from individuals, corporations, foundations, and gov-
ernment agencies.  Conditional contributions are recog-
nized as revenue when the conditions on which they
depend have been substantially met. Substantially all of the
Collection’s grants and membership revenues are consid-
ered to be contributions for purposes of applying revenue
recognition policies. Contributions are recorded at fair
value, net of estimated uncollectible amounts. 

The Collection records contributions as temporarily
restricted if they are received with donor stipulations that
limit their use either through purpose or time restrictions.
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When donor restrictions expire, that is, when a purpose
restriction is fulfilled or a time restriction ends, temporarily
restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net
assets and reported in the statement of activities as net
assets released from restrictions (see Note 7). 

The Collection has volunteers who provide adminis-
trative support to Library programs. Such contributed serv-
ices do not meet the criteria for recognition of contributed
services contained in generally accepted accounting princi-
ples and, accordingly, are not reflected in the accompanying
financial statements. 

Functional Allocation of Expenses
The costs of providing museum and library services and
other activities have been summarized in Note 9. Museum
programs include costs of the exhibitions, curatorial 
activities, public education, and concerts. Library programs
include provision of library access and service, book 
conservation, the maintenance of the Photoarchive, 
and administration of Library programs. General and
administrative services include executive and financial
administration and an allocable portion of building 
maintenance and security. 

Fundraising activities of the Collection include salaries
and employee benefits of program staff who develop pro-
posals for fundraising; solicit contributions for those needs
and for endowment purposes from individuals, corpora-
tions, government agencies, and foundations; and conduct
special fundraising events. Fundraising costs are expensed
as incurred. 

Collections
The museum and library have extensive collections of art
including paintings, sculpture, furniture and decorative
arts, books, rare books, photographs, historical auction cat-
alogues, and other items. The collections are maintained
under the care of the curatorial and library staff and are
held for research, education, and public exhibition in fur-
therance of public service rather than for financial gain. As
a matter of policy, proceeds from the sales of collections are
used to acquire other items for collections. The Collection
does not include either the cost or the value of its collec-

tions on the statement of financial position, nor does it
recognize gifts of collection items as revenues in the state-
ment of activities. Since items acquired for collection by
purchase are not capitalized, the cost of those acquisitions
is reported as decreases in nonoperating items in the 
statement of activities. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Collection considers all highly liquid investments 
purchased with an original or remaining maturity of less
than three months at the date of purchase to be cash 
equivalents, with the exception of those money market
funds that are included as investments (see Note 4). 

Investments
Security transactions are recorded on a trade-date basis.
Investments are presented in the financial statements at
fair value.  For investments in debt and equity securities,
fair value is determined using published market quotations.
Investments in funds are valued at fair value as reported by
the fund managers. Investments denominated in non-U.S.
dollar currencies are translated into U.S. dollar equivalents
at year-end spot foreign exchange rates. Realized gains or
losses are determined using the average-cost basis of secu-
rities sold.  

The Collection’s investments are pooled to facilitate
their management. Investment income is allocated among
the individual components of unrestricted and temporarily
restricted net assets, based on donor restrictions or in the
absence thereof, using the dollar value unit method. 

The Collection manages its pooled investments on a
total return basis. To preserve the investments’ long-term
purchasing power, the Collection limits the amount 
available to be spent each year to 4.5% of the investment
portfolio’s average market value for the twelve quarters
ending the March prior to the beginning of the fiscal year,
net of applicable investment and custodial fees (the
“spending rate”). 

Other assets include approximately $2.6 million of real
estate investments valued at net book value. 
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Fixed Assets
Land, building, significant building improvement projects,
and equipment expenditures in excess of $2,000 are 
capitalized. Depreciation and amortization of buildings,
building improvements, and equipment is provided over
the estimated useful lives on the straight-line basis and is
recognized as an operating expense. The estimated useful
lives are as follows: 

Years

Building and building additions 28 to 50 
Security systems 15 
Furniture and equipment 5 to 10 

Inventory
Inventory consisting of publications, prints, and cards is
valued at the lower of average cost or market. 

Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. The more significant estimates made
related to the valuation of investments, collectibility of
contributions receivable, and the actuarial assumptions
used to calculate pensions and other postretirement 
benefits. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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3. contributions receivable

Contributions receivable consisted of the following at June 30, 2005: 

Unconditional promises to give $ 1,374,983   
Less: Discount to present value at 3.7% 36,134 

1,338,849 

Less: Allowance for uncollectibles - 
Net contributions receivable $ 1,338,849   

Amounts due in 
Less than one year $ 604,849   
One to two years 734,000 

$ 1,338,849   
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4. investments

The Collection’s investment portfolio consisted of the following at June 30, 2005: 

The Museum The Library
Cost Market Cost Market 

Money market fund of 
Federated Investors $ 1,228,808    $ 1,228,808     $ 341,152        $ 341,152     

Fixed income funds 50,490,803 51,478,669 14,017,697 14,291,957 
S&P Exchange traded fund 20,939,343 24,604,036 5,813,363 6,830,787 
Russel 1000 Exchange traded fund 13,338,891 13,370,004 3,703,259 3,711,897 
Equity securities 69,371,883 86,239,771 19,259,627 23,942,637 

Total $ 155,369,728 $ 176,921,288 $ 43,135,098   $ 49,118,430    

Investment return and its classification in the statement of activities for the year ended June 30, 2005, were as follows: 

Unrestricted
Board Temporarily 

General Designated Restricted Total 
Dividends and interest                $ - $ 4,775,083   $ 352,275    $ 5,127,358    
Realized gains/(losses), net 16,447 11,559,550 751,991 12,327,988 
Unrealized appreciation - 4,447,134 309,593 4,756,727 
Total investment return 16,447 20,781,767 1,413,859 22,212,073 
Transfer pursuant to spending policy* 7,591,533 (7,591,533) - - 
Less: Investment fees - (981,794) (40,882) (1,022,676) 
Net investment return $ 7,607,980  $ 12,208,440 $ 1,372,977 $ 21,189,397  
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The investment return is reflected in the statement of activities as follows: 

Unrestricted
Board Temporarily 

General Designated Restricted Total 
Net investment return pursuant 

to spending policy*  $ 7,591,533        $ - $ -    $ 7,591,533 
Designated for long-term investment 16,447 12,205,312 1,356,542 13,578,301 
Other interest income - 3,128 16,435 19,563 

$ 7,607,980  $ 12,208,440 $ 1,372,977 $ 21,189,397   

* Spending transfers for operations from pooled invested assets totaled $8,973,103 during fiscal 2005. The transfer pursuant
to spending policy reflected above is shown net of investment fees of $490,174 allocated to general operations and $891,397
spending transfers included in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions. 

5. fixed assets

Fixed asset balances at June 30, 2005, consisted of the following: 

Accumulated Net 
Cost Depreciation Book Value 

The Museum
Land $ 688,817 $ - $ 688,817   
Building 4,395,696 (4,395,696) - 
Building improvements 16,479,709 (5,642,651) 10,837,058 
Equipment 5,758,827 (2,642,466) 3,116,361 
Furniture and fixtures 1,075,320 (642,522) 432,798 
Construction in progress 90,673 - 90,673 

28,489,042 (13,323,335)  15,165,707 

The Library
Land 87,271 - 87,271 
Building 1,266,470 (1,266,470) - 
Building improvements 1,911,119 (366,010) 1,545,109 
Equipment, furniture, and fixtures 968,970 (702,560) 266,410 

4,233,830 (2,335,040) 1,898,790 
Total property and equipment $ 32,722,872   $ (15,658,375)  $ 17,064,497  

Depreciation expense for the year ended June 30, 2005, amounted to $1,053,118. 
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Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benefits

Projected and accumulated benefit obligations at 
June 30, 2005 $ (15,851,562) $ (5,738,000)   

Fair value of plan assets at June 30, 2005 14,229,548 - 
Funded status $ (1,622,014)    $ (5,738,000)   

Measurement date July 1, 2004 June 30, 2005

Prepaid (accrued) pension cost recognized in 
the statement of financial position $ 284,589         $ (4,897,000)   

Benefit cost 422,910 418,000 
Benefits paid 689,012 150,452 

Weighted-average assumptions as of June 30
Discount rate used to determine benefit obligations 5.25%             5.25%     
Discount rate used to determine net periodic pension cost 6.50%             6.50%     
Expected long-term return on plan assets 8.00%             - 
Rate of compensation increase 4.25%            - 

6. pension & other postretirement

benefits

The Collection maintains a noncontributory defined bene-
fit plan (the “Plan”) covering substantially all employees.
The Plan provides benefits based on salary and years of
service. A participant who has five or more years of service
is entitled to receive normal retirement benefits. In addi-
tion, any participant whose service is terminated and who
has completed five years of service is entitled to a deferred
vested benefit upon retirement based upon his final aver-
age compensation and credited service accrued to date of
termination. 

Plan assets are invested principally in mutual funds
and corporate common stocks. The administrative cost of
the Plan are borne by the Collection and amounted to

$159,677 for the year ended June 30, 2005. The
Collection’s funding policy is to contribute annually 
an amount that meets the minimum requirements of 
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974,
under different assumptions from those used for financial-
reporting purposes. No amount was contributed in fiscal
2005, as the existing Plan assets met the minimum funding
requirements. 

In addition to providing pension benefits, the
Collection provides certain postretirement health and sup-
plemental life insurance benefits for retired employees.
Substantially all of the Collection’s employees may become
eligible for those benefits if they reach normal retirement
age while working for the Collection. The Collection funds
its postretirement benefits costs on a pay-as-you-go basis
and provides for the expense on the accrual basis.

For measurement purposes, for participants a 9% percent
annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered
health care benefits was assumed for 2005. The rates were

assumed to decrease gradually to 4.75% for 2009 and
remain at that level thereafter. 
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1% Point Increase 1% Point Decrease

Increase/(decrease) in APBO  $ 949,000       $    (755,000)   
Increase/(decrease) in sum of service and interest cost 111,000 (85,000) 

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant
effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans. 

A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care
cost trend rates would have the following effects: 

Medicare Part D
On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 was signed
into law.  The Act allows employers who offer actuarially
equivalent prescription drug benefits to retirees to receive 
a federal subsidy starting in 2006. Actuarial equivalence of
the program’s prescription drug coverage are based on the
level of drug costs underlying the per capita costs and the
actuary’s database for the expected distribution of claims.
Based on these values, it is assumed that the prescription 

drug benefit will be actuarially equivalent in 2006 and for
all years thereafter. The Plan’s calculation of the fiscal 2005
postretirement welfare benefit obligation accounts for 
the subsidy as an actuarial gain and results in a decrease in
benefit obligation as of June 30, 2005, of about $866,000.
In addition, the net periodic benefit cost for the Plan was
reduced by about $122,000; without the subsidy, the fiscal
2005 FAS 106 cost would have been $540,000. 
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7. net assets

Net assets consisted of the following at June 30, 2005: 

Unrestricted net assets
General $ (207,663)   

Designated for long-term investment 194,644,623 

Invested in real estate 2,657,820 

Designated for the purchase of art 292,348 

Invested in fixed assets 16,288,409 

Total unrestricted net assets 213,675,537 

Temporarily restricted net assets 

Museum
Purchase of art 1,172,894 

Architectural study 15,888 

Education 10,000 

Event sponsorship 10,031 

Exhibition and other public programs 1,592,865 

Mellon curatorial fellow 226,323 

Maintenance of clocks 79,831 

Library
Retrospective conversion project 197,020 

Council lectures 11,000 

Delmas project 17,137 

ARTstor project 88,305 

Mellon survey 4,757 

HCFF archive project 57,045 

Digitization (Pforzheimer) 32,028 

Department specific 2,296,720 

Total temporarily restricted net assets 5,811,844 

Permanently restricted net assets 

Museum
Endowment funds, income unrestricted 15,000,000 

Endowment funds, income restricted to clock maintenance 500,000 

Land 688,817 

Library
Endowment funds, income restricted for support of the Library 9,982,239 

Land 87,271 

Total permanently restricted net assets 26,258,327 

Total net assets $ 245,745,708
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8. net assets released from restrictions

Net assets were released from donor restrictions during the year ended June 30, 2005, by the passage of
time or by incurring expenses satisfying the restricted purposes specified by the donors as follows: 

Museum programs General

Exhibition specified $ 248,239   
Mellon curatorial fellow 113,946 
Education programs 91,981 
Architectural study 59,112 
Clock maintenance 22,550 
Other museum projects 76,645 

Library programs
Retrospective conversion project 58,500 
HCFF archives project 102,532 
ARTstor project 146,156 
Digitization (Pforzheimer) 33,167 
General library support 500,000 
Department specific 385,021 

Sub-total operating 1,837,849 
Purchase of collection item 194,961 

Total $ 2,032,810   

9. functional classification of expenses

Expenses of the Collection for the year ended June 30, 2005, are classified on a functional basis as follows:

Programs General

Museum $ 6,965,053   
Library 3,412,991 

10,378,044 
Supporting Services
General and administrative 6,096,458 
Fundraising 1,348,159 

7,444,617 
$ 17,822,661
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The Frick Collection
Staff
as of June 30, 2005

Anne L. Poulet   
Director

Yuri Ito 
Executive Assistant to the Director

Administration & 
Finance Department

Robert Goldsmith  
Deputy Director

Martha Hackley  
Executive Assistant to the Deputy Director

Michael Paccione 
Controller

Diane Oatman 
Payroll/Benefit Coordinator

William Traylor 
Accounting Coordinator

Dana Winfield
Head of Human Resources

John Yearwood
Accounting Assistant ( p.t.)

Lisa Foerster
Purchasing and Supply Room Assistant

Curatorial Department

Colin B. Bailey
Chief Curator

Margaret Iacono
Curatorial Assistant to the Chief Curator

Denise Allen
Associate Curator

Michael Bodycomb
Photographer

Diane Farynyk
Registrar/Exhibition Manager

Susan Grace Galassi
Curator

Allison Galea
Registrarial Assistant

Amy Herman
Head of Education

Elaine Koss
Editor

Mary Lydecker
Curatorial Administrative Assistant

Barbara Roberts
Conservator

Iraida Rodriquez-Negron
Curatorial Research Assistant

Joanna Sheers
Curatorial Assistant

William Trachet
Senior Conservation Technician

Meredith Watson
Education Liaison

Holly Flora
Andrew W. Mellon Fellow

Xavier F. Salomon
Andrew W. Mellon Fellow

Kim de Beaumont
Guest Curator

Department of External Affairs

Joyce Bodig
Coordinator of Concerts and Special Events

Rebecca Brooke
Manager of Publications

Amy Busam
Manager of Corporate and Foundation Relations

Mary Emerson
Manager of Major Gifts

Caitlin Larrabee
Administrative Assistant for Development

Rosalie MacGowan
Membership Coordinator

Sarah Milestone
Manager of Special Events

Geetha Natarajan
Media Relations & Marketing Coordinator

Heidi Rosenau    
Manager of Media Relations & Marketing

Retail & Visitor Services

Katherine Gerlough
Head of Retail and Visitor Services

Zoe Browder
Assistant to the Head of Retail and Visitor Services

Nancy McGeorge
Susan Tabor
Sales and Information Coordinators (seasonal )

Margaret Barclay
Rujeanne Bleemer
Elizabeth Bukac
Nina Coates
Cassie Cross
Janice Dugan
Yvette Edelhart
Barbara Feldkamp
Coral Groh
Ann Jaffe
Sue Ellen Jarvis
Michael McCurdy 
Anthony Neverson
Ameela Padarat
Emmanuel Piton
Monica Sands
Mandakini C. Tata
Avelardita Taveras
Jonathan Tuzo
Sales and Information Staff ( p.t.)
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Gabriel Jodorkovsky
Brian Pantekoek
Mailroom Attendants

Operations Department

Dennis Sweeney
Head of Operations

Engineering Division

Joseph Corsello
Chief Engineer

Colm McCormac
Assistant Chief Engineer

Alexander Brand
Charles W. Bulanowski
John Kowalski
Nabil Marji
Thomas Puglia
Mikhail Shusterman
Engineers

Conrad Lewis
Electrician

Maintenance Division

Brian A. Anderson
Senior Galleries Technician

Carol Cannon
Interior Renovator and Technician

Housekeeping Division

Mireya Romero
Supervisor of Housekeeping 

Ronald Moliere
Assistant Housekeeping Supervisor

Marie Brann
Jairo Rodriguez Garcia
Kalu Gaviria
Berthie Lazare
Matawakilou Maliki
Louisa Moreau
Derek Opong

Sirina Ouro-Sama
Juan Pereya
Housekeepers

Kitchen Division

Joseph Teresa
Executive Chef/Kitchen Manager

Hilda Aguiar
Sous Chef

Peter Comey
Cook ( p.t.)

Theana Bernadotte
Conceptia Saintil
Kitchen Assistants

Horticulture Division

Karl Galen Lee
Horticulturalist and Special Events Designer

Bernadette Morrell
Flower Arranger ( p.t.)

Security Division

Dominic Phillip
First Lieutenant for Security

Daniel Charles
Second Lieutenant for Security

Gloria Blanc-Jaiteh
Pierre Jean-François
Sergeants

Lance Hartman
Delroy Slater
Night Shift Supervisors

Ainsworth Anderson
Night Relief Supervisor

Sabane Adinda
John A. Baker
Dwain Bredwood
Tamara Brown
Elizabeth Cacovic
Daniel Campbell

Gamal Carson
Georges Desire
Lesly Desmangles
Borgia Espinal
Leroy Evans
Daniel O. Faakye
Mara Gjelaj
Alexey Gryaznov
Ana Gutierrez
Pearl James
Devaindranauth Jamunaprasad
Herve Jean-Baptiste
Billy Jean-Elysee
Marlene Joseph
Joanel Legiste
Joseph Levasseur
James LoBosco 
Guerline Loiusdor
Jean Mayard
Elliot Meadows
Riviere Moreau
Edward Peana
Rambarakh Ramkirath
Chunilall Rangasamy
Brian Robertson
Antoine Smallwood
James Smith
Richard Spencer
Shivekarran Tillack
Guards

Frick Art Reference
Library Staff
As of June 30, 2005

Patricia Barnett
Andrew W. Mellon Librarian

Mary Ann E. Kelly 
Assistant to the Chief Librarian/
Coordinator for Library Administration

Vanessa Jones
Assistant for Library Administration
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Public Services Department

Lydia Dufour
Chief, Public Services

Suzannah Massen
Assistant Reference Librarian for 

Electronic Resources

Jacqueline L. Rogers
Reference Associate

Carol Yoshimura
Library Associate for Public Services 

Keisha Hernandez
Eddie Jones
Receptionists ( p.t.)

Ian Titus
Manager of Pages

Lorenzo De Los Angeles III
Anthony Redding
Senior Pages/Technicians

Brian Goldberg
Jeanette Levy
Dean Smith
Pages/Technicians ( p.t.)

Conservation Department

Don Swanson
Chief, Collections Preservation 

Jerilyn Davis
Conservator

Kelli Piotrowski
Assistant Conservator

Felix Esquivel
Amanda T. Wheeler (p.t.)
Conservation Assistants

Donald David
Manager of Digital & Reprographic Services

George Koelle
Manager of Digital Projects

Jake Ehrlund (p.t.)
Justin Sohl
Digital Technicians

Luciano Johnson 
Stack Reconfiguration Coordinator

Book Department

Deborah Kempe
Chief, Collections Management & Access 

Mark Bresnan
Head, Bibliographic Records

Rodica Krauss 
Head, Cataloging Projects

Paul Schuchman
Associate Cataloger

Christina Peter
Assistant Cataloger for Acquisitions

Jesse Sadia (Auction Sale Catalogues)
Amy Schwarz (Periodicals) 
Cataloging Associates

Anthony Jones
Acquisitions Assistant

Liam Considine
F. Eric Fabianich
Acquisitions & Cataloging Assistants

Charles Basman
Cynthia Biber (p.t.)
Cataloging Assistants

Photoarchive Department

Inge Reist
Chief, Collections Development & Research 

Kerry Sullivan
Head, Photographic Records

Louisa Wood Ruby 
Associate Photoarchivist

Angela Campbell
Project Manager for Digital Photoarchive

Dorothy Devenney
Rita Havivi
Ellen Prokop 
Britta Von Campenhausen
Assistant Photoarchivists ( p.t.)

Kira Appel
Valeria Kondratiev
Margaret Rose
Photoarchive Assistants ( p.t.)

Archives & Records 
Management Department
(Institution-wide)

Sally Brazil
Chief, Archives & Records Management ( p.t.)

Susan Chore 
Associate Archivist 

Julie Ludwig 
Assistant Archivist

Talia Neffson
Archives Assistant ( p.t.)

Information Systems
Department
(Institution-wide)

Floyd Sweeting III
Head, Information Systems

Brian Nichols
Manager of Information Technology

Vivian Gill
Manager of Digital Information

Julie Shean  
Database Coordinator

Spencer Sutton  
Help Desk Coordinator

John Ng  
Network & PC Support Technician
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